
Adult Commissioning Committee 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Adult Commissioning Committee to be 
held as follows for the transaction of the business indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
DATE: Wednesday, 11 March 2020

TIME: 3.00 pm

VENUE: The Salford Room - St James's House Pendleton Way Salford M6 5FW.

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014,’ the 
press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record this meeting. 

AGENDA

1  Apologies for Absence 

2  Declarations of Interest 

3  Draft Minutes of the Meeting Held on 12 February 2020 (Pages 1 - 6)

4  Patient Story 

3:10PM - ITEMS FOR DECISION 

5  Adult Community Eating Disorder Service - Judd Skelton - 15 
minutes 

(Pages 7 - 60)

3:25PM - ITEMS FOR ASSURANCE 

6  Finance Report - David Warhurst - 15 minutes (Pages 61 - 74)

3:40PM - ITEMS FOR INFORMATION 

7  Integrated Community Based Care Group Update - Harry Golby - 
10 minutes 

(Pages 75 - 90)

8  Urgent & Emergency Care Update - Stephen Tilley - 10 minutes (Pages 91 - 100)

9  Any Other Business 

Public Document Pack



10  Date of 2020/2021 Meetings 

The meetings will all commence at 14:00 in the Salford Suite, Civic 
Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton, M27 5DA:

Wednesday 13 May 2020
Wednesday 10 June 2020
Wednesday 08 July 2020
Wednesday 09 September 2020
Wednesday 14 October 2020
Wednesday 11 November 2020 
Wednesday 13 January 2021
Wednesday 10 February 2021
Wednesday 10 March 2021

11  Exclusion of the Public 

12  Improving Specialist Care Programme - Progress Update - Karen 
Proctor - 10 minutes 

(Pages 101 - 108)

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3316
Carol Eddleston E-Mail: carol.eddleston@salford.gov.uk



ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE Page 1 of 6
12 FEBRUARY 2020

MINUTES OF ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE

12 February 2020, 
15:00-17:00Hrs

SALFORD SUITE, CIVIC CENTRE, CHORLEY ROAD, SWINTON, M27 5DA

Present:
Cllr Jane Hamilton (JaH) Executive Support for Social Care & Mental 

Health – SCC
Cllr Bill Hinds (BH) Lead Member for Finance & Support Services – 

SCC
Cllr Tracy Kelly (TK) Lead Member for Housing and Neighbourhoods 

- SCC
Dr David McKelvey (DMcK) Neighbourhood Lead - CCG
Mrs Karen Proctor (KP) Director of Commissioning – CCG
Mrs Charlotte Ramsden (CR) Strategic Director – People – CCG
Dr Tom Regan (TR) Clinical Director for Commissioning - CCG
Cllr Gina Reynolds (GR) Lead Member for Adult Services, Health and 

Wellbeing – SCC – co-chair
Dr Jeremy Tankel (JT) Medical Director – CCG – in the chair
Mr David Warhurst (DW) Chief Finance Officer - CCG

In Attendance:
Mr Mark Albiston (MA) Divisional Director Adult Social Care 

Assessments, Salford Care Organisation
Mr Harry Golby (HG) Assistant Director of Commissioning – CCG
Mr Chris Hesketh (CH) Head of Financial Management - SCC
Mrs G McLauchlan (GM) Deputy Director of Public Health - SCC
Mrs Claire Vaughan (CV) Acting Director of Quality and Innovation – CCG
Ms Carol Eddleston (CAE) Senior Democratic Services Advisor - SCC

Apologies:
Mr Steve Dixon (SD) Chief Accountable Officer – CCG
Mr David Flinn (DF) Neighbourhood Lead - CCG
Mrs Joanne Hardman (JH) Chief Finance Officer – SCC
Mrs Francine Thorpe (FT) Director of Quality and Innovation - CCG

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE Page 2 of 6
12 FEBRUARY 2020

1. Apologies and Declarations of Interest

a) Apologies

The above apologies were noted.

b) Declarations of Interest

JT reminded committee members of their obligation to declare any interest they may 
have on any issues arising at the meeting which might conflict with the business of 
the Integrated Commissioning organisations.

JT declared an interest in agenda item 6 Adult Commissioning Report, section 2.6 
Renewal of Health Living Centres Contracts as he held a practice at the Angel 
Centre. As the ACC was not being asked to make a decision on this report he was 
permitted to remain in the meeting.

2. Minutes of the Last Meeting

The minutes of the meeting held on 08 January were approved as a correct record. 

It was reported that the proposed amendment to the quorum of the ACC, CCC and 
H&CCB had not been approved by SCCG Governing Body on 29 January. Quoracy 
arrangements would therefore be included in the wider governance review of the 
Integrated Commissioning Committees which was being planned for later in the year.

3. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION

a) ADULT SOCIAL CARE: MANAGING FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND QUALITY

MA presented a report which provided high level information in respect of the national 
and local context in terms of Adult Social Care (ASC) finance, budget setting and 
management, performance and quality; national and local challenges and pressures 
on ASC spend, demand and capacity; and set out a range of strategic opportunities 
that were available to address the current overspend within ASC. 

The report followed a request from the Board of Directors at Salford Royal 
Foundation Trust, via the contracts and performance meeting, to set out the 
mechanisms that would operate within a Local Authority to manage ASC spend 
within the context of reducing budgets and increased demand.

Key messages nationally were that councils were spending an increasing proportion 
of their total budgets on social care, rising from 34% in 2010/11 to 38% in 2019/20. 
The 2019/20 figure for Salford City Council was 31.3%. The National Living Wage 
was anticipated to cost councils in the region of a further £448m and was believed to 
be the biggest driver of increases in unit costs for residential, nursing and home care. 
In Salford, the total number of new requests for adult social care had increased by 
25% from 2015-16 to 2018-19. There was a known absence of night time support in 
the community which meant that people were likely to be admitted to 24 hour 
residential care even though they did not really need it.

Page 2



ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE Page 3 of 6
12 FEBRUARY 2020

The following points were noted:

- A detailed analysis would be helpful to explore the experiences of local 
authorities with similar demographics to Salford

- If CCGs were not contributing as much elsewhere were the local authorities 
contributing more

- What would the level of overspend be without integration and what would 
budgets look like without integration

- The improvement in the acute system had probably contributed to an increase in 
the budget pressures on ASC

- Was it really an overspend or actually a case of rebalancing a budget and in fact 
a case of underfunding

- What was the role of the ICO as a statutory partner of the Council in budget 
setting meetings

- Simply adding more money was not the solution, there needed to be a 
fundamental rethink of the ASC offer

- There was an increasing recognition of the positive impact on the acute system 
and discussions with the ICO about budgets were easier now there was a clearer 
understanding of how local authority finance worked

- Client contribution rules were not the same among different cohorts of clients
- SRFT was not signed up to the City Mayor’s Employment Standards Charter and 

we needed to look seriously into how the Real Living Wage could be funded and 
promoted in partner organisations. 

- A business case was currently being put together in relation to paying the real 
living wage to health and care workers and supported living staff

- Staff retention in the future was a concern and recognition of the service being 
provided was important as well as rates of pay

- With limited career progression opportunities available staff were likely to move 
on so work was ongoing to identify what suitable career opportunities could be 
created in local government and the NHS

- The number of non Salford residents receiving care in Salford was a challenge
- ASC schemes were very successful at keeping people at home and out of 

hospital. When they did require hospital care, however, their conditions were 
more complex and often required longer hospital stays

- Discharge into residential care may or may not be appropriate but it was 
important to discharge into the right model

- More needed to be done to join up evening and night time health & social care 
support

- We prided ourselves on identifying new ways of working and acknowledged that 
we could do more in  measuring improvements in the quality of care

- One priority was to understand and relay what changes needed to be made, what 
the ‘ask’ was, and what confidence there was in the changes identified

The Adults’ Commissioning Committee thanked MA for the comprehensive 
report and for the opportunity to have a detailed discussion about the 
challenges and opportunities ahead.

Page 3



ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE Page 4 of 6
12 FEBRUARY 2020

b) ADULT COMMISSIONING REPORT

KP, CR and HG presented an overview of a number of key or emerging areas of 
commissioning and provision relating to adult health and care. 

The areas of note included:

 The new Salford Carers Strategy 
 Salford Carer Support specification 
 Supported Employment - Mental Health & Learning Disabilities
 Suicide Prevention training for local venues
 Social Prescribing
 Healthy Living Centres contracts 

JT declared an interest in the section relating to the Healthy Living Centres as he 
practised in the Angel Centre. As the ACC was not making a decision on the 
proposed renewal of the contracts he was permitted to remain in the meeting.

CR confirmed that the Living Well model was now moving into a proper pilot phase 
and this model was providing an opportunity to re-think about how to work with 
residents, partners and employers about how to increase the number of Salford 
residents with learning disabilities and other significant disabilities who were in paid 
work.

It was agreed that the City Council, the CCG and SRFT would be asked to provide 
information on the number of people with Learning Difficulties or with mental health 
needs who were employed with them.

HG confirmed that the Health Living Centres were hubs for a wide variety of health 
and wellbeing activities. The contracts for the three centres were due to expire at the 
end of the current financial year. There was strong evidence of the value of the 
activities provided and the Service and Finance Group was supportive of continued 
investment but recommended that an extension of one year, with the potential for a 
second year, would be appropriate at this stage to allow the wider VCSE strategy to 
be developed and implemented.

As the total value of the contracts exceeded the decision-making authority of the 
commissioning committees and the contracts were currently managed by the CCG, 
the decision to extend would be taken by the CCG Governing Body.

Members of the ACC were highly complimentary of the services and activities 
provided from these centres and concurred with the SAFG’s recommendation that an 
extension should be granted. This would allow a more strategic approach to be 
adopted, including reviewing the potential connectivity between the Healthy Living 
Centres, the Gateways and the Neighbourhood model.

The Adults’ Commissioning Committee noted the overview of key and 
emerging areas of commissioning and provision relating to adult health and 
care.

ACTION: CCG, SCC and SRFT to be asked to provide figures on the number of 
employees with Learning Disabilities or with mental health needs.

Page 4



ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE Page 5 of 6
12 FEBRUARY 2020

4. ITEMS FOR ASSURANCE

a) FINANCE REPORT

DW presented an in-year update on how the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund 
was performing in this financial year (2019/20). Based on month 9 information, the 
adults’ element of the Integrated Fund was currently forecasting to overspend by 
£2.5m. This represented a worsening of £0.6m from the last finance report presented 
to the committee in January. One driver for part of this overspend was an increase in 
planned care and surgical care activities as a result of waiting list reduction initiatives 
undertaken by all trusts.

Adults’ Commissioning Committee noted the in-year and forecast position for 
the adults’ Integrated Fund for 2019/20.

b) EFFECTIVE USE OF RESOURCES AND MEDICINES MANAGEMENT

HG presented the first report of the CCG’s Effective Use of Resources and Medicine 
Management programmes to Adult Commissioning Committee.    It gave the Salford 
context to media headlines such as “Revealed: NHS plans to ration 34 everyday 
tests and treatments” (source.theguardian.com, 29/11/19).

The report was presented because the financial consequences of the CCG’s 
Effective Use of Resources Programme and the (high cost drug elements) of the 
Medicines Management Programme were largely within the locality’s budget for 
adults health and care.  This report had a different focus to the Medicines 
Management reports presented to the CCG’s Governing Body and the Primary Care 
Commissioning committee as it predominantly related to high cost drugs prescribed 
by hospital clinicians but funded directly by the CCG (i.e. excluded from hospital 
tariffs).  Effective use of resources had been identified as a priority workstream within 
the Greater Manchester Elective Care Programme, because of its potential to release 
secondary care capacity, however this report had a different focus to the Scheduled 
Care reports received by the Adults Commissioning Committee. 

CV confirmed planning processes were in place such that the CCG anticipated the 
likely impact of new high cost drugs a couple of years before they emerged.

There was a discussion about whether GPs were always the most appropriate 
people to submit Individual Funding Requests or whether in some circumstances this 
is should, in fact, be done by the patients’ consultants.

Adults’ Commissioning Committee noted the report and approved the 
following recommendations:

a) That the existing mechanisms be maintained to ensure Salford clinicians 
and officers are involved in Greater Manchester processes to influence 
policy recommendations as they are developed, 

b) that Salford’s decisions for Effective Use of Resources and Medicines 
Managements policies be delegated to the CCG’s Director of 
Commissioning (or jointly by the Director of Commissioning and Director 
of Finance where the financial impact is expected to be above £20k),

Page 5



ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE Page 6 of 6
12 FEBRUARY 2020

c) that the Director of Commissioning take clinical and non-clinical advice 
on individual policies as they judge appropriate.  This could for example 
include discussing with relevant CCG leads or establishing an informal 
group, etc.  In practice it is these leads who are most familiar with the 
detail of the process and policies so they are best placed to give advice.  

d) that Salford’s normal practice be to adopt Greater Manchester policies 
when they are approved via Greater Manchester governance (e.g. meeting 
of Greater Manchester Directors of Commissioning).  However, where the 
Director of Commissioning is advised to deviate from a Greater 
Manchester recommendation, they can do so and this will be reported to 
Adult Commissioning Committee for a fuller discussion.

6. ANY OTHER BUSINESS

GMc provided an update on preparations being made to deal with any outbreak of 
Covid-19 in the area. This involved a multi-agency approach with partners and 
voluntary organisations across the city. Reassurance was sought about capacity to 
trace contacts if required and it was agreed that it would be helpful to draw up a 
mobilisation plan.

Adults’ Commissioning Committee thanked GMc for the update on multi-
agency preparations being made in relation to Covid-19 and looked forward to 
further reassurance in the form of a mobilisation plan.

7. MEETING CLOSED

The meeting closed at 17:25.

Page 6



Adult Commissioning Committee

Part 1

Agenda item number: 5

Item for: Decision 

11th March 2020

Report of: Integrated Commissioning 

Date of paper: 11th March 2020

Subject: Adult Community Eating Disorders Business Case 

In case of query please contact: Clare Mayo 0161 212 4236

Strategic priorities (please mark with an X which priorities the paper 
relates to)

Priority Selection

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research: 

Integrated Community Care Services (Adult 
Services):

x

Children’s and Maternity Services: 

Primary Care: 

Enabling Transformation: 

Purpose of paper: The paper provides details of a review and business case 
to support the Community Eating Disorders (ED) service for adults in Salford. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



The paper provides three options and recommends option 3. 

Further explanatory information required

Question Answer

How will this benefit the health 
and wellbeing of Salford 
residents or the Clinical 
Commissioning Group?

Currently people seeking treatment for 
Eating Disorders from the Adult Community 
Team are not being seen in a timely way. 
The business case outlines options to 
support the reduction of the waiting list 
backlog and ensure the appropriate 
commissioned capacity to meet demand.

What risks may arise as a result 
of this paper? How can they be 
mitigated?

None

What equality-related risks may 
arise as a result of this paper?  
How will these be mitigated?

A full equality impact assessment is 
included with the business case.

Does this paper help address any 
existing high risks facing the 
organisation? If so what are they 
and how does this paper reduce 
them?

Risk of harm to people waiting to access 
the Adult Community ED service due to the 
high mortality rate of this cohort.

Please describe any possible 
conflicts of interest associated 
with this paper.

None

Please identify any current 
services or roles that may be 
affected by issues within this 
paper.

None

Page 8



  

Document development

Process Yes No Not 
applicable

Comments and date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 
actual report)

Outcome

Public engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, 
event, consultation)

 Survey and engagement work 
undertaken with people accessing the 
service to determine quality and 
improvements. 

The only areas of 
improvement identified relate 
to timeliness of the service. 

Clinical engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, 
event, consultation)

 Engagement via discussion group 
with Primary Care representatives to 
explore specific challenges in relation 
to medical monitoring. This was 
supported by formal (written) and 
non-formal (anecdotal) feedback to 
the service from a range of GP 
practices. 

Feedback informed the 
requirements for medical 
monitoring included in the 
business case. 

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social 
Value and the impacts on the residents of 
Salford socially, economically and 
environmentally (including climate 



P
age 9



  

Process Yes No Not 
applicable

Comments and date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 
actual report)

Outcome

change)?

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks 
and how these will be managed) 

 Please see equality impact 
assessment included with the 
business case

Please see equality impact 
assessment included with the 
business case 

Legal advice sought 

Presented to any informal groups or 
committees (including partnership groups) 
for engagement or other formal 
governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

 Mental Health Commissioning 
Strategy Group 

Service and Finance Group 

P
age 10



  

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work 
and ensure there is clarity in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether 
amendments were requested about a particular part of the work

P
age 11



  

Adult Community Eating Disorders Business Case 

1. Executive summary
This paper provides an overview of the business case to support the Salford Adult 
Community Eating Disorders service.  

The business case includes consideration of the following: 

 Lack of commissioned capacity against presenting demand
 Changes to NICE guidance
 Investment within CYP services as part of 5 Year Forward View investments 
 Quality and provision of the service 
 Benchmarking against other provision in GM
 Transition 
 Primary Care view 
 NHS Long Term Plan (20191) directive: by 2023/24, new models of care, 

underpinned by improved information sharing, will give 370,000 adults and older 
adults greater choice and control over their care, and support them to live well in 
their communities. When explored further, the technical guidance specifies that this 
figure will include a specific focus on a range of community services, including Adult 
Eating Disorders.

The business case outlines three options: 

 Option 1: Do nothing – this is deemed as not viable due to the high mortality rate of 
the population accessing the service and the current service pressures. 

 Option 2: Increase capacity in the service to meet demand and align with 18 week 
RTT timescales. Costs for this option are £335,030 to meet 120 referrals and 110 
treatment starts. This includes the £110k current funding and therefore the additional 
ask is £225,030 recurrently. 

 Option 3: Increase capacity in the service to meet demand and align with CYP 
timescales (RTT urgent in 1 week or less, standard in 4 weeks or less). Costs for this 

1 https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/nhs-long-term-plan-version-
1.2.pdf 

Page 12

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/nhs-long-term-plan-version-1.2.pdf
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/nhs-long-term-plan-version-1.2.pdf


  

option are £383,902 to meet 120 referrals and 110 treatment starts. This includes the 
£110k current funding and therefore the additional ask is £273,902 recurrently.

These costs are indicative costs for approval and represent the maximum ask. The final 
financial ask is subject to negotiation with GMMH. 

Option 3 is recommended. 

In addition to increased capacity, both option 2 and option 3 also include the following: 

 Medical input (phlebotomy, interpretation and management of results, prescribing, 
support to primary care and acute hospital)

 FREED – early intervention pathway for those people with first episode eating 
disorder

 Family Therapy to align with CYP offer
 SEED – severe and enduring eating disorder pathway

In addition to the three options outlined above, there is also a need to address the current 
waiting list. Costs for this would be £118,815 on a non-recurrent basis (based on a 
waiting list of 46 people). There is no request to this group to support the waiting list 
initiative.

2. Background
2.1 Eating Disorders are serious mental health conditions with the highest mortality rate of 
any mental health problem (BEAT 2015). They also have high levels of disability and the 
onset is generally in adolescence at a critical developmental stage (Treasure, Stein & 
Maguire, 2014). There is also a significant emotional impact on carers who are often 
involved to a significant degree and carer-related costs are estimated to be £2.6-£3.1 billion 
nationally each year (Beat, 2015). The impact of eating disorders highlights the importance 
of optimising service provision for this group of people. Early identification and intervention 
with access to effective stepped care pathways is of paramount importance to improve 
clinical outcomes and increase cost-effectiveness in individuals with eating disorders 
(Treasure et al, 2005).

Page 13



  

Adult community eating disorders services have not been a focus in the Five Year Forward 
View despite there being a need to review these services; however Children and Young 
People (CYP) services were addressed, with significant investment and improvements 
being outlined. The subsequent  NHS Long Term Plan (20192) states that by 2023/24, new 
models of care, underpinned by improved information sharing, will give 370,000 adults and 
older adults greater choice and control over their care, and support them to live well in their 
communities. When explored further, the technical guidance specifies that this figure will 
include a specific focus on a range of community services, including Adult Eating Disorders. 
The new models of care set out a directive to redirect resources from inpatient to 
community eating disorder services (EDS), providing individuals with eating disorders 
access to timely interventions, closer to their home, to maximise treatment outcomes.

In addition to these national drivers, the local review of the current service provision 
identified the following: 

 Changes to NICE Guidance impacting on length of treatment 
 Concerns relating to the lack of medical input in the service and wider monitoring of 

people with ED in primary care 
 Changes to the use of day-patient services creating additional complexity within the 

community ED service 
 Increased identification of ED within specific cohorts (e.g. people with ASD and 

people with Type 1 Diabetes) 
 Changes to diagnostic criteria 
 Significant pressures on the service via sustained demand over and above the 

commissioned capacity 
 Mis-alignment between the new CYP access timescales and current ED service 

access times 
 Mis-alignment of treatment offers (e.g. family therapy) between CYP and ED 

services 

Following the review, a business case has been developed to outline a range of possible 
approaches to address the pressures in the service, provide closer alignment to CYP 
service offers (and therefore improve transition) and improve the service offer to a 
population with a high mortality rate. 

2 https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/nhs-long-term-plan-version-
1.2.pdf 

Page 14

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/nhs-long-term-plan-version-1.2.pdf
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/nhs-long-term-plan-version-1.2.pdf


  

3. Considerations to Develop the Business Case
3.1 A full review of the existing service and capacity underpins the attached business case. 
As part of this review, the following considerations were undertaken: 

3.1.1 Quality of the service 
An audit of the existing service provided by Greater Manchester Mental Health NHS 
Foundation Trust (GMMH)) against NICE quality standards was undertaken in May 2019 
and subsequent results demonstrated compliance of upwards of 94%, reaching 100% for 
two of the standards (2, 6). The only standard falling below the NICE target is statement 1 
regarding waiting times. This suggests a high quality service with strong fidelity to the 
quality framework outlined by NICE, with the only areas of development being focused on 
the areas relating to waiting times and capacity. This is supported by feedback from people 
with lived experience who praise the quality of the service and support offered. The only 
area of challenge provided by people who access the service is in relation to the timeliness 
of access, which is in line with the identified capacity challenges and current commissioning 
arrangements.

3.1.2 Service Provider
The current provider (GMMH) is also the same provider of Adult Community Mental Health 
Team (CMHT) services, with whom there is a need for a close working relationship. 
Additionally, when people are discharged from the service, they may still be eligible for 
support under statutory care act duties. In Salford, these duties are held with GMMH under 
the Section 75 agreement. Therefore, having the same provider would reduce any transition 
points for the person accessing the service. Given the quality of the service and the benefits 
of people being supported by the same provider, there is less of a driver to follow a tender 
process. 

3.1.3 Benchmarking / costings against other services 
Based on information shared by Bolton CCG, their cost per person is calculated as £3,014 
(including accommodation costs) based on assessment and treatment starts. The proposed 
option outlined in the attached business case would result in a cost of £3,490 per person 
(including accommodation costs) based on treatment starts. Whilst slightly higher than the 
comparator costs, it is important to note that the services being compared are not like for 
like (e.g. It should be noted that the Bolton service would only meet the CYP waiting time 
targets for urgent referrals and not for any other referrals being received into the service. 
There is also variation in the severity threshold required to access other GM EDS and a 

Page 15



  

more limited range of pathways for binge eating presentations exists than in the Salford 
EDS. The emphasis on early intervention and not giving unintended but yet unhelpful 
messages about needing to be more unwell to qualify for a specialist EDS, NICE, Beat 
and NCCMH Guidelines recommend that services should not have a severity threshold, 
which is in line with the current Salford commissioning arrangements).
 
3.1.4 Timeliness of access 
To respond to the need to see urgent referrals in a timely way, the service aims to prioritise 
a response to those who are most unwell and those identified via transition. As urgent 
cases are received, this diverts resource from managing the standard referrals, resulting in 
a backlog and significant waiting times. The current specification outlines an 18 week 
timescale for referral to treatment. Whilst urgent referrals are seen within the specified time 
frame, routine referrals will be significantly longer. There are currently 46 standard referrals 
waiting for treatment. The table below outlined the referral to treatment time for routine 
waiters in September 2019. As evidenced in the chart, there are significant challenges in 
the pathway for individual CBT-E, however as a whole, 82.6% of the waiting list are 
exceeding the locally determined 18 week target for treatment. 

Table 3: Current Referral to Treatment Time (in weeks) for Routine Waiters (Data 
taken at end of September 2019) 

3

2

3

3

3

4

2

3

4 8 11

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

Guided CBT

Group CBT-E

Group CBT BED

Individual CBT-E

0-6

18-Jul

19-26

27-35

36-49

50+

RTT per pathway

Numbers waiting

Pa
th

w
ay

s

7-18 

As previously mentioned, the demand entering the service is consistently outstripping 
capacity and this results in a sustained waiting list.

3.1.5 CYP and Adult Joint Provision 

Page 16



  

Consideration was undertaken for the potential of an all age service for CYP and Adult 
community ED. Whilst this may be beneficial in relation to transition, it poses a challenge for 
maintaining connectivity with wider mental health services. Retaining two providers 
supports direct connectivity between CAMHs and AMHs and ensures specialist input from 
both services. 

To ensure that transition is managed as effectively and sensitively as possible, providers 
currently meet to support referrals and identification of specific needs. It is estimated that 
10% of people accessing the CYP ED service transition to adult ED. Where people have 
remained in CYP ED services past the transition point of 18 years, this has been due to the 
differences in service provision and has resulted in high costs (yet small numbers of 
individuals). As part of an ongoing piece of work, transitions will be monitored in line with 
GM guidelines and where specific needs are identified, this will inform future planning for 
transitions. In particular, work at GM is exploring the potential for an 18-25 service which 
plans to provide additional support for transition. The expectation would be that any agreed 
business case would be expected to align and shape to fit this work. Given that transition in 
ED is well supported with positive communication, it would be useful to share good practice 
and apply this to other areas of mental health support.

3.1.6 Primary Care View 

To support the review, discussions were held with the Clinical Lead for Transformation and 
the Clinical Lead for Mental Health to identify key challenges in relation to medical 
monitoring of this population. This was carried out in addition to a review of the feedback to 
the ED service (received both formally via written communication and informally via 
anecdotal discussions) to identify the specific challenges relating to medical oversight of 
this population. 

4. Proposed Options
4.1 The paper proposes a range of options to support the service.  Please note that GMMH 
have provided costings for upper and lower referral thresholds. For the purposes of the 
business case, the upper thresholds have been used as these better align with the referral 
numbers for the past three years. 

Page 17



  

4.2 The options described in the business case are outlined as follows: 

4.2.1 Option 1: Do nothing 

4.2.2 Option 2: Increase capacity in the service to meet demand and align with 18 week 
RTT timescales. Costs for this option are £335,030 to meet 120 referrals and 110 treatment 
starts. This includes the £110k current funding and therefore the additional ask is £225,030 
recurrently. 

4.2.3 Option 3: Increase capacity in the service to meet demand and align with CYP 
timescales (RTT urgent in 1 week or less, standard in 4 weeks or less). Costs for this option 
are £383,902 to meet 120 referrals and 110 treatment starts. This includes the £110k 
current funding and therefore the additional ask is £273,902 recurrently.

In addition to increased capacity, both option 2 and option 3 also include the following: 

 Medical input (phlebotomy, interpretation and management of results, prescribing, 
support to primary care and acute hospital)

 FREED – early intervention pathway for those people with first episode eating 
disorder

 Family Therapy to align with CYP offer
 SEED – severe and enduring eating disorder pathway

These costs are indicative costs for approval and represent the maximum ask. The final 
financial ask is subject to negotiation with GMMH. 

4.3 In addition to the three options outlined above, there is also a need to address the 
current waiting list. Initial discussions explored the potential of phasing the investment, with 
funding initially being utilised to reduce the waiting list with a view to moving to CYP 
timescales following successfully addressing the waiting list. It is anticipated that addressing 
the waiting list in this way would take approximately 60 weeks. Given the high mortality rate 
of the population served by ED services, this does not feel like a viable solution. 
An alternative approach would require non recurrent investment to reduce the waiting list in 
a more timely manner. Calculations suggest that 1.8 wte clinicians (1 wte band 8a and 0.80 
wte band 7) would be able to resolve the existing waiting list in 6 months. Costs for this 

Page 18



  

would be £118,815 on a non-recurrent basis (it is useful to note that this cost is based on a 
waiting list of 46 people – costs are likely to increase should the waiting list increase – this 
is outlined in the full business case). There is no ask to support the waiting list initiative to 
this group. 

5. Recommended Option
5.1 The recommended approach is option 3. This would align with CYP timescales and 
increase capacity in the service to address demand. 

6. Funding
6.1 Investment for NHS Long Term Plan targets is anticipated from centre in 2021. The 
review and business case identifies pressures within the local Adult community ED service 
which are likely to increase over time and are linked to the wider lack of commissioned 
capacity and changes in NICE guidance. 

If the business case is agreed, consideration will need to be made of where this is funded 
from in addition to Salford CCG’s achievement of its Mental Health Investment Standard 
going forward.

7. Recommendations
7.1 The Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to agree option 3 of the Adult Community 
Eating Disorders business case. 

Name: Clare Mayo

Job title: Integrated Commissioning Manager (Adult Mental Health) 

Page 19



  

Page 20



Review Paper 
Page 1 19/02/2020

Review Paper + Business Case 

Review Paper and Business Case For Adult Community Eating Disorders. 

Version Control Log

DATE SECTIONS NAME COMMENT

Page 21



Review Paper 
Page 2 19/02/2020

Table of Contents 

1 Executive Summary 

2 Strategic Context 

3. Current Performance 

4. Challenges and Risks  

5. Additional Considerations 

6. Steps Taken To Mitigate Challenges and Risks 

7. Case for Change  

8. Options 

9. Recommended Options and Financial Ask

10.  Implementation
 

11. Conclusion and Recommendations 

12.       References 

Page 22



Review Paper 
Page 3 19/02/2020

Section 1 Executive Summary                                                  

This paper provides details of a review of the GMMH provided Salford Community 
Eating Disorders Service (EDS) and proposes three options for further consideration.

Eating disorders are serious mental health conditions with the highest mortality rate 
of any mental health problem (BEAT 2015). Effective psychological treatments exist 
and therefore early access to these is of paramount importance. Whilst Children and 
Young People (CYP) EDS have been a focus of the 5 Year Forward View, seeing 
increases in funding to achieve improved waiting targets, adult EDS have not 
received the same focus, creating disparity within the offer. Revisions of NICE 
guidance in relation to treatment length and changes to diagnostic criteria have 
added further pressure to local services. 

In addition, it is recognised that the Salford service has been significantly under-
commissioned in relation to the level of presenting demand and was not 
commissioned to provide medical input to support monitoring of people with more 
complex presentations. This has resulted in waiting lists to access the service and a 
challenge from primary care to ensure that the right treatment, support and medical 
oversight are in place for this population. 

Following a review of local data and identification of the challenges facing the 
service, three options are presented for further consideration and exploration:

1. Do nothing and continue with the current level of commissioned service.
2. Investment to increase capacity to meet the 18-week standard for treatment 

for routine cases and expand the service offer to include medical monitoring, 
family therapy, early intervention (FREED) and a pathway for severe and 
enduring presentations (SEED).

3. Investment to increase capacity to meet CYP waiting times and expand the 
service offer to include medical monitoring, family therapy, FREED and  
Severe and Enduring Eating Disorder (SEED) Pathways. (Preferred Option)

Option 3 is identified as the preferred option in providing a NICE Compliant, 
multidisciplinary, clinically effective service. This would require recurrent investment 
of £328,289 for a lower threshold of 90 referrals (80 treatment starts) and £381,958 
for an upper threshold of 120 referrals (110 treatment starts). 

The service has an existing backlog waiting list of 46 referrals, consequently the 
achievement of both the 18 week (Option 2) and CYP (Option 3) waiting time 
standards would not be achievable until this is addressed. Option 3 provides an 
additional resource of 0.8wte clinical time and it is proposed through this business 
case that if this is the selected option this additional resource is initially used to 
address this referral backlog prior to implementing the CYP waiting time standard. 
This is projected to take approximately 60 weeks following which the CYP waiting 
time standard could commence. Using this approach, the cost of addressing the 
waiting list would be absorbed into the resource provided in Option 3.

Option 3 will deliver increased quality, on the longer term, through providing a 
service response time matching Children and Young Peoples services of 1 week 
from referral to treatment for urgent cases and 4 weeks for routine. There will then 

Page 23



Review Paper 
Page 4 19/02/2020

be access to a range of evidence based treatment pathways including individual and 
group therapy. The clinical benefits of this model will include:

 Increase in provision to meet the demand of 90-120 referrals per annum for 
assessment and 80-110 treatment starters

 Increase in service user, carer, GP/referrer and staff satisfaction
 Parity between CYP EDS and adult EDS
 Improvement in clinical outcomes across all presentations
 Reduced pressure on GPs, advice on interpretation and management 

available
 Meeting core functions of an effective EDS as outlined in NCCMH Guidelines
 Offering FREED pathway
 Meeting the need of SEED individuals
 Offering carers support 
 The backlog of referrals will be addressed

Page 24



Review Paper 
Page 5 19/02/2020

Section 2 Strategic Context                ………                       …

2.1 National Context

Eating Disorders are serious mental health conditions with the highest mortality rate 
of any mental health problem (BEAT 2015). They also have high levels of disability 
and the onset is generally in adolescence at a critical developmental stage 
(Treasure, Stein & Maguire, 2014). The UK prevalence of eating disorders is 
estimated to be 600,000 to 725,000 (NICE, 2017). There is an associated cost of 
£3.9-£4.6 billion in NHS treatment and £6.8-£8 billion in lost income (Beat, 2015). 
There is also a significant emotional impact on carers who are often involved to a 
significant degree and carer-related costs are estimated to be £2.6-£3.1 billion each 
year (Beat, 2015). The impact of eating disorders highlights the importance of 
optimising service provision for this group of people. Early identification and 
intervention with access to effective stepped care pathways is of paramount 
importance to improve clinical outcomes and increase cost-effectiveness in 
individuals with eating disorders (Treasure et al, 2005). 

NICE Guidance provides an overview of the evidence based, recommended 
treatment approaches for specific types of eating disorder. Several Department of 
Health documents including ‘Closing the Gap: Priorities for Essential Change in 
Mental Health’ (2014), ‘Achieving Better Access to Mental Health Services by 2020’ 
(2014) and ‘The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health’ (2014) have set out a 
commitment to achieve parity of esteem between physical and mental health. In 
‘Achieving Better Access to Mental Health Services by 2020 (2014) the development 
of access and waiting times for treatment of eating disorders was identified to be an 
“early priority”, along with the focus on testing different models of eating disorders 
provision. Despite this focus, adult community eating disorders services have not 
been a focus in the Five Year Forward View. The subsequent  NHS Long Term Plan 
(20191) outlines that by 2023/24, new models of care, underpinned by improved 
information sharing, will give 370,000 adults and older adults greater choice and 
control over their care, and support them to live well in their communities. When 
explored further, the technical guidance specifies that this figure will include a 
specific focus on a range of community services, including Adult Eating Disorders. 
The new models of care, set out a directive to redirect resources from inpatient to 
community eating disorder services (EDS), providing individuals with eating 
disorders access to timely interventions, closer to their home to maximise treatment 
outcomes.

Access and waiting time standards for children and young people (CYP) were 
introduced in community eating disorder services in 2015 (NHS Commissioning 
Guidance), setting targets for receipt of treatment within four weeks from first contact 
for standard cases and within one week for urgent cases. This has created some 
challenges nationally (particularly for those people in transition) in relation to the 
difference in waiting times between CYP EDS, and adult EDS (Royal College of 
Psychiatrists, 2019; PHSO, 2017, Beat, 2019). One of the key recommendations 
from The Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO, 2017) publication 
‘Ignoring the Alarms: How NHS Eating Disorder Services are Failing Patients’ is to 
achieve parity between CYP EDS and adult EDS. In response, NHS England 

1 https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/nhs-long-term-plan-version-
1.2.pdf 

Page 25

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/nhs-long-term-plan-version-1.2.pdf
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/nhs-long-term-plan-version-1.2.pdf


Review Paper 
Page 6 19/02/2020

(NHSE) has proposed testing the same waiting times that now exist in children’s 
and young people’s eating disorder services in adult eating disorder services. 

2.2 GM Context 

Within GM, most areas commission a community EDS for their local population. 
Whilst most services meet the needs of people aged 18+, there are some services 
that support people from age 16. Most provision is provided via a block contract, 
making it difficult to identify specific costs for the service.

An initial scoping exercise was conducted with other GM commissioners. Of those 
who responded, alternative providers to GMMH are particularly highlighted in 
Bolton and Trafford where the service is provided by Cheshire and Wirral 
Partnership (CWP) and is recognised as a well performing service. Stockport 
provision is delivered by Oakwood Psychology Service Ltd and is commissioned 
with an overlap of CYP / adult populations to support transition.   

Exploration of Salford service provision in comparison to the provision in the 
responding areas identified alternative providers in Bolton and Stockport as 
illustrated in the table below: 

Locality Provider Contracting 
Method

Number of 
Assessments/ 

Treatments 
Commissioned 

Annually 
(Approx for non 

Salford 
contracts)

Cost Cost Per 
Person

Medical 
Input

Salford GMMH Block 50 assessments 
and treatment 

starts pa

£110k £1,100 per 
person (based 
on assessment 
and treatment 

start)

No

Stockport Oakwood 
Psychology 
Service Ltd

Mixed – block 
(core provision) 
+ Cost / Vol 
(intensive work)

Salford CCG 
have requested 
this information 

Salford CCG 
have requested 
this information

Salford CCG 
have requested 
this information

No

Bolton Cheshire 
Wirral 
Partnership

Block 105 
assessments 
and treatment 

starts

£316,489 £3,014 per 
person based 
on assessment 
and treatment 
starts 

Yes – 
Full 
MDT

Trafford Cheshire 
Wirral 
Partnership

Block Salford CCG 
have requested 
this information

£204,208 Salford CCG 
have requested 
this information

Yes – 
Full 
MDT

Table 1: Overview of Alternative GM Provision

Locality Waiting Time for 
Assessment

Waiting Time for 
Treatment

CYP Waiting 
Time Targets 

Salford Urgent – 2 weeks 
Standard – 6 weeks 

Urgent – 2 weeks 
after assessment 
Standard - 18 weeks 

Stockport Salford CCG have 
requested this 
information 

Salford CCG have 
requested this 
information 

Bolton Urgent – 72 hours 
Semi Urgent – within 
10 working days 

Urgent – 72 hours
Semi Urgent – Within 
10 working days 

Urgent = referral 
to treatment in 1 

week of less

Standard = 
referral to 

Page 26



Review Paper 
Page 7 19/02/2020

Standard – Within 6 
weeks 

Standard – Within 2 
months of 
assessment 

Trafford Urgent – 3 working 
days 
Standard – 4 weeks 

Urgent – 10-14 days 
Standard - 1 month 
following assessment 

treatment in 4 
weeks or less.

Table 2: Overview of Alternative GM Provision Waiting Times 

Using Bolton as a comparator, a service that provides medical input, and has 
approximately the required capacity to meet the anticipated Salford demand has a 
contract value of £316,489. It should be noted that the Bolton service would only 
meet the CYP waiting time targets for urgent referrals and not for any other 
referrals being received into the service. There is also variation in the severity 
threshold required to access other GM EDS and a more limited range of pathways 
for binge eating presentations exists than in the Salford EDS. The emphasis on 
early intervention and not giving unintended but yet unhelpful messages about 
needing to be more unwell to qualify for a specialist EDS, NICE, Beat and NCCMH 
Guidelines recommend that services should not have a severity threshold, which is 
in line with the current Salford commissioning arrangements. 

Research conducted by GM Strategic Clinical Network in 2018 suggested that 
there was limited medical provision in the commissioned services; however the 
Bolton / Trafford provision both include a full MDT model with medical oversight.  
Bloods and ECG are requested via GP and are then monitored via the Community 
EDS MDT (with psychiatrist input). This provides primary care with medical 
guidance to support the management of people accessing the service, particularly 
those individuals with a severe and enduring eating disorder (which can often 
require significant clinical input). CWP are also providers of the adult eating 
disorder inpatient provision, meaning that they have full oversight of the eating 
disorders pathway, supporting effective gatekeeping and liaison between 
community and inpatient teams. Anecdotal evidence suggests that a benefit of this 
approach is a reduced referral into inpatient services. In the local Salford service, 
there is a good skill mix in the team to support management of people with complex 
needs in the community as demonstrated by the low admission rate to inpatient 
services (between 01.10.18 – 11.10.19, 3 people were admitted to inpatient care, in 
comparison to 14 in Manchester*). * Based on NHSE data. 

Additionally, it was noted that there is often a significant gap between the adult and 
CYP provision. The outlier to this was Stockport which commissions CYP services 
up to the age of 18 years and adult services from the age of 16 years. This 
provides an overlap to support transition planning and shared decision-making. 
Whilst this may be difficult to commission, the services do not report any capacity 
challenges, instead suggesting that referrals / case management balance out 
across the year. This service is monitored in line with CYP targets for the young 
people, whilst adults using the service are seen in line with 6 week and 18 week 
targets. 

2.3 Local Context  

Salford CCG commissions a local community eating disorders service based at the 
Willows in Weaste and St James House, Salford. This service is provided by Greater 
Manchester Mental Health Trust (GMMH) and is commissioned to provide: 

 Assessment of 50 adults* per year 

Page 27



Review Paper 
Page 8 19/02/2020

 Treatment for 50 adults* per year 

*Adult is classed as 18 years+ for the purposes of this service delivery. 

Following assessment, people accepted into the service are offered: 
 Tier 1 Therapy – Guided self-help based on an evidenced based intervention 

(CBT) for milder presentations with dietetic intervention.
 Tier 2 Therapy – Psychological Therapy – 25-40 sessions of individual 

therapy or 19-23 group therapy offered fortnightly for standard cases, weekly 
for urgent cases/group interventions. Dietetic intervention alongside 
psychological intervention, usually two contacts over an episode of care. 

In addition, the service is the gatekeeper to the more intensive parts of the eating 
disorder pathway, including day-patient and inpatient treatment provided mainly by 
The Priory, Cheadle Royal, commissioned by NHSE. The service attends and 
provides input into Care Programme Approach (CPA) meetings for people requiring 
inpatient/day-care to ensure continuity of care and to contribute to discharge 
planning. 

Eating disorders have a significant impact on relatives and partners providing care 
and support. The service provides carers psychoeducation and a carer’s support 
group which is co-facilitated by a member of the service and two expert carers. Other 
carers also contribute to this group. These are highly valued interventions by carers 
of individuals receiving care in the service. 

Eating disorders typically generate feelings of anxiety in professionals due to the 
potential physical health consequences. Unhelpful myths can also exist about the 
degree of control individuals have over their symptoms and reasons for engaging in 
eating disorder behaviours. These myths can impact negatively on contact with 
services. High levels of ambivalence and shame can exist in individuals with eating 
disorders, which can result in a reluctance to seek help. To address these issues, 
the service offers regular co-produced and co-facilitated training across GMMH to 
raise awareness of eating disorders, to challenge unhelpful stereotypes that may 
exist and to increase confidence in identifying eating disorders, knowledge of referral 
pathways and development of general skills. 

The guidelines from the National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health (NCCMH 
Guidelines for Commissioners and Providers of Eating Disorder Services, 2019) 
recommends a specialist community Eating Disorder Service serves a population 
of 1 million due to advantages in terms of skill mix and economies of scale. GMMH 
EDS also has contracts to provide a specialist community eating disorder service to 
Wigan, Bury, Oldham, Tameside and Glossop and therefore serving a population of 
approximately 1.2 million meets this recommendation. These guidelines and Beat 
also recommend that specialist community eating disorder services are able to 
accept referrals of all severities of eating disorders. 

The full specification is provided below: 

Page 28



Review Paper 
Page 9 19/02/2020

Eating Disorder Service

Section 3 Current Performance                ………                       

3. Current Performance 

3.3.1 Assessment and Treatment Starts 

As evidenced in the table below, performance for the Salford community eating disorders 
service exceeds the commissioned number of assessment and treatment starts. 

Table 1: Commissioned vs Actual Activity for a 3 Year Period. 
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 Commissioned 

Activity

 Referrals accepted/received
 Assessments completed
 Treatment Starts
 Number of referrals meeting urgent 
criteria
 Number of referrals meeting routine 
criteria

139/147
92
88
17
122

144/148
105
87
25
119

128/131
111
89
23
105

50 per year 
50 per year 
(based on two 
treatment starts 
per month for 
12 months)

The data from the past three years demonstrates that demand is consistently double 
the number of assessments currently commissioned and just under double the 
number of commissioned treatment starts. It is useful to note that a significant 
number of urgent referrals are also received which are likely to require faster 
assessment and treatment timescales. Historic commissioning arrangements have 
not provided the right capacity in the service to manage demand based on 
increasing numbers. 

3.2 Waiting Times 

3.2.1 Referral to Assessment and Referral to Treatment

The table below illustrates the mean waiting time in weeks for referral to assessment 
and referral to treatment for urgent and routine referrals combined over the past 
three years. 

Page 29



Review Paper 
Page 10 19/02/2020

Table 2a: Mean Waiting Times for Urgent and Routine Referrals in Weeks. 

*some exceptions in the data have inflated these figures

Table 2b: Percentage of referrals achieving service standards for waiting times for assessment and treatment 

Urgent referrals for adult services are identified by markers for prioritisation, which 
include: very low BMI, rapid weight loss, abnormal blood chemistry as a result of 
eating disorder behaviours, Type I diabetes, pregnancy and transition from CAMHS 
and other adult eating disorder intensive treatment services. Individuals screened as 
meeting urgent criteria should be contacted and offered an assessment appointment 
within two weeks. 

Routine referrals are those not meeting the above criteria. Routine referrals should 
be offered an assessment within six weeks. 

Current performance sees urgent referrals accessing assessment in two to four 
weeks and routine referrals typically accessing assessment in 3-12 weeks. The 
current waiting list as of September 2019 is 0 urgent referrals (all urgent referrals 
have been assessed) and 18 routine referrals, (5 of which are waiting 0-2 weeks, 6 
are waiting 3-6 weeks and 7 waiting 7-12 weeks). However this is only a partial 
picture as wait for treatment will be significantly longer, particularly for standard 
referrals.  

The target in the service specification states that referral to treatment times should 
not exceed 18 weeks. Performance data in the table above shows that a mean 
waiting time for referral to treatment far exceeds the 18 week target. 

Since the new standards for children and young people’s community eating disorder 
services came into effect in April 2016, parity between the waiting times has 
decreased. The standard for children’s services identifies a target between referral 
and treatment (one week or less for urgent cases and 4 weeks or less for routine 
cases). These new targets are being met by CYP ED providers. The current adult 
waiting times are measured between referral and assessment (2-4 weeks for 
urgent referrals and in excess of six months for routine referrals), with a further 
wait for therapeutic intervention. The service prioritises transition cases and 

Waiting Times (mean in 
weeks)
 urgent and routine 
referrals combined

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 Target for 
Urgent 

Referrals

Target for 
Routine 

Referrals

 Referral to assessment 
 Referral to treatment

17.2* 
45.1

27.0*
44.7

26.8*
50.4

2
2

6
18

% meeting service standard waiting times 
for assessment and treatment

October 2018 – September 2019
 

 Referral to assessment 
(within 6 weeks; 
urgent and routine combined)

 Referral to treatment
(within 18 weeks; urgent and routine combined)

20.9% 

12%

Page 30



Review Paper 
Page 11 19/02/2020

therefore the waits are significantly shorter than routine referrals, however they may 
still be longer than young people would previously be familiar with. Increased 
investment has been identified for CYP EDS in the NHS Long-Term Plan to achieve 
the waiting time targets. However, without increased investment in adult EDS, this 
could compromise reaching the GM transition standards (see section 5.3) and 
ultimately will impact on successful transition. 

3.2.2 Current Waiters for Treatment 

There are currently 46 routine referrals waiting for treatment (data taken at end of 
September 2019). The table below illustrates the composition of the waiting list at 
this point in time. 

Table 3: Current Referral to Treatment Time (in weeks) for Routine Waiters 
(Data taken at end of September 2019) 

3

2

3

3

3

4

2

3

4 8 11

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

Guided CBT

Group CBT-E

Group CBT BED

Individual CBT-E 0-6

18-Jul

19-26

27-35

36-49

50+

RTT per pathway

Numbers waiting

Pa
th

w
ay

s

7-18 

As previously mentioned, the demand entering the service is consistently 
outstripping capacity and this results in a sustained waiting list. In order to support 
management of the demand, one of the vacant roles (family therapist) was converted 
into a bank psychologist and administrative role to provide additional capacity in the 
team for assessment work and administration of the number of referrals. It is also 
noted that the Family Therapist post was not part of the Salford contract and was 
providing input into the Salford contract. This post is funded by wider GMMH 
contracts and the revised capacity is now supporting the Salford contract.  This has 
resulted in Family Therapy not being offered since August 2018, which was viewed 
by service users, particularly some of those transitioning from CYP EDS where this 
is a first line intervention, as an effective intervention to allow for a successful 
transition and continuity of care. 

3.3 Audit of NICE Quality Standards (2018)

Page 31



Review Paper 
Page 12 19/02/2020

NICE introduced the first Quality Standards in Eating Disorders in September 2018. 
These 
comprise six core quality statements covering assessment, treatment, monitoring 
and care for children, young people and adults with an eating disorder. The quality 
statements relevant to adult services are provided below:

 Statement 1 People with suspected eating disorders who are referred to an 
eating disorder service start assessment and treatment within 4 weeks for 
children and young people or a locally agreed timeframe for adults. The 
locally agreed timeframe for the current service is 2-6 weeks for assessment 
and 18 weeks for treatment from the time of referral.

 Statement 2 People with eating disorders have a discussion with a healthcare 
professional about their options for psychological treatment.

 Statement 3 People with binge eating disorder participate in a guided self-help 
programme as first-line psychological treatment.

 Statement 5 People with eating disorders who are being supported by more 
than one service have a care plan that explains how the services will work 
together.

 Statement 6 People with eating disorders who are moving between services 
have their risks assessed.

The service completed an audit against the new Quality Standards in May 2019 and 
the subsequent results demonstrated compliance of upwards of 94%, reaching 100% 
for two of the standards (2, 6). The only standard falling below the NICE target is 
statement 1 regarding waiting times. This suggests a high quality service with strong 
fidelity to the quality framework outlined by NICE, with the only areas of development 
being focused on the areas relating to waiting times and capacity. 

3.4 Lived Experience 

Feedback routinely collected from people using the service shows that the quality of 
the service is rated highly in terms of receiving interventions which are highly 
acceptable and that they judge to be effective, in the context of feeling understood.

The one area where service users have expressed dissatisfaction is in terms of 
waiting times for treatment. 

Section 4 Challenges and Risks 

In addition to waiting time challenges, there are a number of other challenges and 
risks that impact the community EDS and place pressures on capacity. These are 
outlined below: 

4.1 Impact of NICE Guidance Changes and other changes in referral patterns

In addition to the number of referrals received by the service, there are several other 
factors which have had an impact on capacity in the service.

4.1.1 Changes To NICE Recommended Treatment Length  

Page 32



Review Paper 
Page 13 19/02/2020

The changes undertaken in 2017 to NICE Guidance for treatment for Anorexia 
Nervosa, specified an increase in the number of sessions recommended, from 20 
sessions to 40 sessions, in effect, doubling the resource intensity. 

In addition, NICE Guidance describes ’40 sessions over 40 weeks, with twice-weekly 
sessions in the first two or three weeks’2 for people experiencing Anorexia Nervosa. 
This is currently not able to be provided in the EDS service given the capacity 
challenge. Therapy is instead offered on a fortnightly basis to routine referrals, 
weekly for urgent referrals and those accessing guided self-help and group 
interventions. 

4.1.2 Changes in Diagnostic Criteria

Inclusion of binge eating disorder in DSM-V has resulted in an increase of referrals 
for assessment and intervention and this increase is likely to continue.  

4.1.3 Changes to the Commissioning of CYP EDS and other Specialist Services

The local CYP EDS has received double the number of referrals that it has been 
commissioned to assess and treat. Secondly, the aim for this service to offer brief 
early interventions and then discharge prior to the age of 18 has not been possible in 
a significant number of cases because of the complexity and severity of the cases 
being referred. This therefore has resulted an increase in the number of cases 
requiring transition to the adult EDS. Other more newly commissioned services are 
also possibly identifying previously unidentified need. One such service includes the 
GM specialist perinatal service. GMMH EDS has received a number of referrals from 
this service and due to the referrals being for females who are pregnant these are 
meeting urgent criteria for the service and are therefore prioritised for assessment 
and treatment, this placing additional pressures on the service and extending the 
waits for routine referrals.

4.1.4 Increased Identification of Eating Disorders in Adults with Autistic Spectrum 
Disorders (ASD) and Type 1 Diabetes

There has been increased focus on the prevalence of eating disorders in certain 
populations recently including adults with ASD and adults with Type I diabetes 
(diabulimia). It is estimated that two out of five women with Type I diabetes and one 
in ten men have diabulimia. The service has received more referrals of adults with 
both conditions. In terms of service impact, individuals with Type 1 diabetes are 
prioritised for assessment and treatment because of increased physical health risks 
and both groups require individual psychological therapy with an experienced 
clinician due to the potential modifications in therapy (which are often required). This 
in turn increases numbers/pressure on this part of the pathway. There is currently a 
pilot project in the South East of England which has been developed to provide a 
service to individuals with eating disorders and Type I diabetes and it is anticipated 
that due to increased media attention of both, that this is likely to result in an 
increase in referrals of these presentations in the future. 

4.1.5 Bed Pressures in Inpatient Specialist Eating Disorder Units and Changes in 
Referral Patterns For Daypatient Services 

2 https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng69/chapter/Recommendations#treating-anorexia-nervosa

Page 33



Review Paper 
Page 14 19/02/2020

Nationally, there has been a year-on-year increase in hospital admissions for 
individuals with eating disorders, with numbers of admissions doubling from 7, 260 in 
2010-11 to 16, 023 in 2017-18 (Guardian, 2019). This has placed pressures on 
specialist eating disorder units and it is typical for there to be a wait of several weeks 
before a planned admission. In the interim, the individual, who will have acute 
physical health needs, will usually remain within the care of community adult EDS 
and GP. 

Referrals from the community adult EDS to daypatient EDS have reduced over the 
past few years, with only one Salford referral made in the past year. This reduction is 
due to daypatient service not accepting referrals where there are blood abnormalities 
and the service being difficult to attend several times per week for Salford people 
due to due to its location in Cheadle. Therefore, individuals who previously would 
have been referred to daypatient EDS now remain with the community adult EDS. 
Whilst this may avoid higher costs of daypatient provision, there is a higher impact 
on the community EDS in terms of capacity. As the medical needs of this group of 
individuals are higher, it places a requirement on the EDS service and the GP to 
manage the medical aspects of an individual’s care. 

4.1.6 Severe and Enduring Eating Disorders (SEED) and Medical Monitoring

The number of people considered to have a SEED presentation represents a small 
proportion of people (approximately 40 per million population). People with this type 
of experience are likely to experience many different challenges in the domains of 
physical health, social functioning and work as well as eating and mental health. 
Some people may not be able to fully recover from their ED, and some may require 
repeated admissions to medical or specialist eating disorder units in order to 
maintain safety, quality of life and personal recovery. To maximise the quality of life, 
careful joint-working between primary care, community health services, social 
services, and secondary and specialist ED mental health services may be required. 
Individuals with severe and enduring presentations present a challenge to the 
current care pathways which focus on change in symptomatology and are time 
limited, given that this may be at odds with the modest improvements for this group 
of people.  Discharging this group of individuals back to GP care will often result in 
anxiety and frustration being expressed by GPs due to them viewing this group as 
requiring specialist input. 

The NCCMH Guidelines (2019) states that an essential function of a community 
eating disorder service is the ability to comprehensively monitor and manage 
physical health. 

Salford’s service is not commissioned to provide medical input and does not have 
medical provision within the staffing complement. Local protocol has seen Salford 
GPs undertake regular monitoring of physical health needs for people using the 
EDS, however there have been challenges relating to those people experiencing 
severe and enduring eating disorders, some GPs have expressed concerns when 
managing their physical health needs in primary care. The frequency of physical 
investigations required during acute phases of the illness and on discharge from 
specialist eating disorder units (twice weekly) is often well beyond the capacity of 
already overstretched GP practices. There are also requests made to the service to 
interpret physical health tests, which is not possible given the skill mix of the current 
service. The concerns of GPs have been evidenced via a number of letters written 
by individual GPs and a specific GP practice to the community adult EDS. 

Page 34



Review Paper 
Page 15 19/02/2020

As part of the assessment process, the service will request physical investigations 
(bloods and ECG) to be completed by the individual’s GP. A recent regional GMMH 
audit of those on the routine treatment waiting list revealed that only 31% (across all 
CCGs) had physical investigations completed. This audit was not able to ascertain 
whether these investigations had been offered and not taken up by individuals, 
however during the course of the audit, a further two GPs stated that support to this 
client group is not primary care work. With evidence that individuals on eating 
disorder service waiting lists generally remain as symptomatic or deteriorate (Beat, 
2013), this implies that a significant majority of individuals on the waiting list may not 
have undergone the NICE recommended physical checks and therefore may be at 
risk of physical consequences that can result from eating disorder behaviours, which 
is of significant concern to the service.  

Other adult eating disorder services have started to develop SEED pathways 
alongside their active treatment pathways with a focus on medical monitoring, 
enhancing quality of life via psychological interventions and providing dietetic 
support, with the aim of stabilisation to reduce the need for repeat admissions. This 
is viewed as a cost effective intervention (Robinson, 1995). 

A focus group held by the service of individuals who identified themselves as having 
a severe and enduring eating disorder identified the following as the elements of 
care and focus that would be important to be provided by a specialist community 
eating disorder service:

 Space for check-in and monitoring
 Medical monitoring provided 
 Focus away from symptom change and on reducing disability/maximizing 

quality of life
 Support for carers

Currently, Salford’s provision does not include a SEED pathway / medical monitoring 
and as a result there is a lack of oversight and appropriately skilled resource to 
support the physical health needs of the people using the service.  

 4.1.7 Service Specification  

The current service specification has not been updated for some time and 
consequently does not provide an outline of the performance baseline data that 
commissioners would require to thoroughly monitor the service provision. Further 
work is required to provide a commissioning update of the specification in addition to 
describing a revised performance framework and reporting requirements and 
strategic links to other parts of the system.

4.1.8 Prioritisation 

To respond to the need to see urgent referrals in a timely way, the service aims to 
prioritise a response to those who are most unwell and identified via transition. As 
urgent cases are received, this diverts resource from managing the standard 
referrals, resulting in a backlog and significant waiting times. 

Page 35



Review Paper 
Page 16 19/02/2020

Section 5 Additional Considerations              

5.1 First Episode and Rapid Early Intervention for Eating Disorders (FREED)

There is now significant clinical consensus that intervening in the first three years of 
onset of an eating disorder is critical to successful outcomes due to changes in the 
brain that occur after this period (Treasure, Stein & Maguire, 2014). FREED is an 
early intervention initiative developed by the Maudsley (SLAM) for 16-25 year olds 
who have less than a three-year duration of illness. Assessment is offered within two 
weeks and treatment utilising a NICE recommended intervention is offered within 
four weeks. Outcomes have shown that 60% of individuals return to a healthy weight 
compared to 16% for Treatment as Usual cases, the number of individuals requiring 
daypatient or inpatient care reduced by 35% and an additional 20% (70% in total) 
achieved a clinically significant outcome. The FREED project was selected for an 
NHS Innovation Accelerator fellowship as an innovation worthy of scaling across 
England. It is also a low-cost intervention. GMMH EDS has been asked to be a 
FREED site by SLAM but has been unable to progress this to date due to capacity 
issues and the further impact this would have on waiting times for routine referrals. 

5.2 Primary Care View 

Discussions with GPs have added weight to the challenges identified in section 4. In 
particular, the following areas were highlighted:

 Medical Monitoring – the challenges indicated in 4.1.5 were supported, with 
additional concern raised around the level of clinical risk being held by GPs, 
particularly when supporting people with severe and enduring eating 
disorders. Specialist medical oversight is required for these cases, particularly 
to ensure that the most appropriate course of action is progressed for the 
individual and that the right level of medical oversight and ED expertise is in 
place. Without this, significant amounts of time are directed from primary care 
to support this group of people, without seeing a significant benefit to their 
health. 

 People with Severe and Enduring Eating Disorder have the potential to sit 
between community eating disorders services and inpatient services. There 
are an estimated 10 people in Salford who have an eating disorder which 
requires more support than can be provided in a standard community eating 
disorders service but are not meeting the criteria for inpatient care. This is 
based off population estimates, however we are aware of potential local 
variance in need. In addition, due to medical input not being commissioned 
within the Community service, the lack of written medical advice increases the 
level of risk for the person. In these circumstances, the gaps between the two 
types of provision can be problematic and may result in challenges supporting 
the individual and managing risk appropriately. Anecdotal evidence suggest 
that this can impact on the health of an individual by reinforcing the message 
that someone is ‘not ill enough’ for an inpatient stay, yet being in a very poor 
physical state. Pathways whereby one provider was responsible for inpatient 
and community was thought to be beneficial. 

 Early Intervention – this was seen as a very positive move, with recognition 
that people in the early stages of an eating disorder would be likely to benefit 
from intervention in a timely way. 

Page 36



Review Paper 
Page 17 19/02/2020

 Transition – The difference in timescales between CYP and adult services 
was recognised as problematic and a number of cases specifically relating to 
this challenge have been experienced recently.  

5.3 Future Proofing 

When considering the future of the adult’s community ED service, it is important to 
recognise the potential standards and requirements that may be realised via GM and 
national channels. In particular, the guidance relating to CYP is useful to note as 
there are strong suggestions that this might be applied to adult ED services in the 
future, Additionally, consideration of these standards and targets are important for 
reducing pressure points in the system (particularly relating to transition cases) for 
the future. Without aligning adult ED targets and standards to those implemented in 
CYP, there are likely to be transition challenges and dissatisfaction from people 
moving from CYP to adult provision. 

The following considerations are particularly highlighted: 

5.3.1 Quality Network for Community Eating Disorder Services for CYP 

The standards outlined in 2016 by the Quality Network for Community ED services 
for CYP focus on the timely and appropriate access to treatment. The document 
comprises access and waiting time standards (NHSE 2015), Core Standards (Royal 
College of Psychiatrists, 2016) and the recommendations from the Quality Network 
for Community CAMHS. Included in the standards are the following targets relating 
to access and waiting times: 

 Service screens all referrals within 24 hours of receipt 
 Routine referrals receive a mental health assessment within 15 days with a 

view of starting a NICE concordant treatment within 4 weeks in line with CYP 
ED referral to treatment (RTT) standard. 

 Referrals with urgent mental health needs receive a mental health 
assessment within 1 week (in line with CYP ED RTT standard)

 Referrals with emergency mental health needs receive a mental health 
assessment within 24 hours 

 NICE concordant treatment received from a designated healthcare 
professional within 4 weeks for routine referrals

 Physical health reviews taken as part of the initial assessment including 
routine bloods and ECG in the context of medical instability 

 Care plans reviewed and updated at a minimum frequency (Waiting Time 
Standard suggests review at 4 weeks and at least every 3 months thereafter)

5.3.2 CYP GM Service Specification 

A revised GM CYP service specification for 2020/21 is currently out to consultation 
with GM commissioners. This describes a core standard for all GM services with the 
recognition that individual CCGs will be able to add to the specification to describe 
any extended service offers. In particular, the specification outlines: 

 All 8-18-year olds with ED to be seen within specialised CEDS service, and 
not within core CAMHS, with flexibility to extend beyond 18 to not interrupt an 
episode of care for an arbitrary transition age (in line with GM Transition of 
Care Recommendations). 

Page 37



Review Paper 
Page 18 19/02/2020

 All CYP CEDS teams are to have a pediatrician at least a PA per week
 Providers are to be cognisant of transition of care recommendations  
 Quality Network for Community CAMHS (QNCC) ED lead review of GM 

services

The inclusion of a medic in the CYP service adds weight to the need for a similar 
resource in the adult service to manage physical health requirements. 

In particular, the CYP specification contains a number of elements relating to 
transition which will need to be considered by adult ED services. These include: 

 Transition arrangements into adult services must be in place, including 
transition arrangements to primary care if children/young people are not 
going to meet adult mental health services thresholds but still require 
some level of support

 Following the transition protocol which includes (as a minimum): a joint 
meeting between the provider and the new service that includes the 
child/young person and/or parent/carer, and a written discharge summary, 
followed up after 6 months to check that the transition has proceeded 
smoothly.

 A follow up after 6 months to ensure that transition has proceeded 
smoothly. 

 There are no arbitrary cut offs – the transition should be based on the 
individual needs of the CYP and not defined solely on the age range of the 
service.

 Transition arrangements into adult services must be in place, including 
transition arrangements to primary care if children/young people are not 
going to meet adult mental health services thresholds but still require 
some level of support.

There is a general expectation that CYP services will extend to 25 years to support 
transition cases. The proposed model to support 18-25 year olds is likely to be 
involve input from both CYP and the adult service to enable provision of 
developmentally appropriate care. Therefore, there is a recommendation that the 
Adult ED specification is updated and revised to align with the standards and GM 
CYP specification. 

5.3.3 CYP Pilot Initiative to Treat ARFID (Avoidant/Restrictive Food Intake 
Disorder)

MSEDS (CYP) are due to begin a pilot initiative to treat referrals of ARFID 
(Avoidant/Restrictive Food Intake Disorder, previously known as selective eating 
disorder) which was included in DSM-V under the ‘Feeding and Eating Disorders’ 
classification. ARFID is a presentation where food is restricted to a limited range not 
due to shape/weight concerns but due to a food’s appearance, texture or a previous 
negative experience with food. The consequences can be impact on weight resulting 
in lower or higher weight and also vitamin and mineral deficiencies which can result 
in serious physical health consequences as highlighted in recent cases in the media. 
There can also be a significant social and carer impact. Psychological treatments 
have recently been developed for ARFID (CBT-AR) and the data from MSEDS will 
be pooled with data from other sites nationally to review effectiveness. Currently the 

Page 38



Review Paper 
Page 19 19/02/2020

adult eating disorder service does not accept referrals of ARFID. However, if CYP 
will be accepting and treating in the future, as this can be a long-standing issue then 
there are likely to be cases that need to transition to an adult service. At present 
there is no reliable data on prevalence of ARFID in an adult population. There would 
therefore need to be consideration about which adult service could best meet the 
needs of these individuals. 

5.3.4. Adult ED Community, Inpatient and Intensive Day Patient Care: Guidance for 
Commissioners and Providers 

The commissioner and provider guidance produced in 2019 provides an outline of 
the technical considerations when implementing an adult ED service in light of the 
Long Term Plan guidance. In particular, the guidance suggests that optimal service 
delivery should include support for: 

 People presenting for the first time (FREED pathway based on the early 
intervention model)

 People with long term / enduring problems (SEED pathway including medical 
monitoring)

 People with comorbid conditions 
 Young people transitioning from CYP services. 

The inclusion of Family Therapy is highlighted as part of the ideal staff team 
complement to support the empowerment of family members of the person 
supported by the service. 

Additionally the guidance refers to the need for clear arrangements relating to 
medical monitoring as an essential aspect of the service. In addition to outlining 
benefits of medical monitoring, a suggested approach is provided relating to the 
responsibilities for medical monitoring. This is as follows: 

 

For those cases whereby the person is supported in primary care, there is a 
requirement to have a clear shared care protocol in place. 

5.3.5 Capacity Requirements

To further support the considerations relating to future proofing the service, the 
potential volume of referrals transitioning from CYP to Adult ED services was 
considered, along with the potential overall prevalence in Salford. 

Salford’s CYP service is commissioned across Salford and Manchester and provided 
by Manchester and Salford Eating Disorder Service (MSEDS) at a cost of £161k. 
This does not include the costs for provision of medical input as this is provided in 
addition to the stated cost. The service is currently commissioned to support 50 
people (25 people in Salford, 25 people in Manchester), however this is frequently 
over-subscribed. It is understood that there has been an increase in young people 

Page 39



Review Paper 
Page 20 19/02/2020

that have currently accessed the service in 2019/20 to date (Salford CCG are 
verifying the exact increase). This is compared to 69 young people in 2018/19. 

It is estimated that approximately 10% of people accessing CYP ED services would 
transition to adult ED. Currently, lower than 10% of this population actually complete 
transition due to the vast differences in service provision. 

In addition, Salford’s Public Health team have been undertaking a brief needs 
analysis to better understand the potential future demand for the service. This has 
been challenging due to a lack of robust national data relating to the prevalence of 
eating disorders in the general population.

Therefore, increasing capacity in the service to manage assessment for the following 
volumes would be appropriate: 

Upper Threshold Lower Threshold
Assessment 120 90
Treatment 110 80

This is supported by the volume of referrals / presentations to the Adult ED service 
over the past three years. 

5.3.6 Care Co-ordination

The CYP service specification includes care co-ordination and key working as a 
function of the service where there is a primary need for ED support. The service 
retains key working until full transition is in place. Currently, the adult ED service 
does not explicitly contain reference to care coordination. This is anticipated to be 
included in the costings for the business case and will therefore be amended in the 
specification. 

Section 6 Steps Taken to Mitigate Challenges / Risks               

To try to mitigate the risks and challenges identified section 4, the service has 
undertaken a number of approaches: 

 Close Liaison with Children and Young People’s Services, ensuring regular 
transition meetings between CYP EDS (Manchester and Salford EDS) and 
GMMH EDS. The purpose of this is to identify young people likely to require 
transition at an early stage to enable planning to ensure a smooth transition. A 
joint meeting also takes place with CYP ED, Adult ED, the young person and 
their family to address any concerns and questions about transition. This is in 
line with the new transition guidelines..

 Provision of guidance on the management of the physical health 
consequences by the service when requested by GPs (Kings College 
Guidance, Treasure 2009). The service dietitians also provide guidance on 
management of individuals at risk of refeeding syndrome and guidance on 
prescribing of nutritional supplements.   

 Revisions to the therapeutic offer to support management of the volume of 
referrals. These revisions include: 

Page 40



Review Paper 
Page 21 19/02/2020

o Development of a group cognitive behaviour therapy for non-complex 
binge eating presentations. 

o Development of a group cognitive behaviour therapy for non-complex 
bulimia nervosa and eating disorder, unspecified presentations.

o Employment of a bank trainee clinical psychologist (band 6) to 
complete assessments and to provide guided cognitive behavioural 
self-help to individuals with non-complex binge eating presentations 
and bulimia nervosa who decline the group interventions, demonstrate 
motivation to address their eating disorder and value the flexibility of 
this intervention. The funds for this post were from a family therapy 
post supported by another contract. Family therapy was viewed as a 
positive from service users and carers, particularly those in transition 
and therefore the loss of this post has reduced the service offer. 

o Reviewed Inclusion/exclusion criteria to the service and looked at 
barriers to implementation  

o Reviewed CNA/DNA policy and implementation. 
o Continued to offer routine individual psychological therapy on a 

fortnightly frequency for those needing 1:1 support and non in 
treatment for Anorexia Nervosa. This is not in line with NICE 
recommendations for frequency of therapy across all eating disorder 
presentations and is likely to be negatively affecting outcomes, service 
user and carer satisfaction, staff satisfaction and also doubles the 
length of treatment.

Section 7: Case for Change                                 

7.1 Summary of Challenges 

As evidenced above, the service has consistently received more than double the 
number of commissioned referrals, creating capacity challenges. There has also 
been an increase in the number of urgent and complex cases as outlined above who 
require more complex interventions from the service and the changes to the 
requirements within CYP ED services in relation to waiting times has widened the 
gap between the referral to assessment / treatment standards, particularly for those 
people in transition from CYP to adult services and the standard referrals which are 
not prioritised. 

In addition to capacity challenges, the service has experienced a range of other 
challenges including: 

 Changes to NICE Guidance impacting on length of treatment 
 Concerns relating to the lack of medical input in the service and wider 

monitoring of people with ED in primary care 
 Changes to the use of day-patient services creating additional complexity 

within the community ED service 
 Increased identification of ED within specific cohorts (e.g. people with ASD 

and people with Type 1 Diabetes) 
 Changes to diagnostic criteria 

The service has responded locally by exploring a number of options, including 
reviewing posts within the team, establishing joint working agreements with CYP 
services, implementing group interventions and reviewing operational policies. 

Page 41



Review Paper 
Page 22 19/02/2020

Despite these attempts to mitigate the challenges within the service, significant 
capacity pressures remain, along with the lack of Family Intervention Therapy, 
compromised compliance to NICE recommended therapeutic delivery (e.g. 
frequency of interventions offered), lack of alignment with the commissioning 
guidance for adult ED and a lack of future proofing for the service in relation to 
anticipated future standards and requirements. 

7.2 Recognition of Quality Provision. 

The NICE audit undertaken by the service demonstrates high quality, well respected 
provision. This is supported by feedback from people with lived experience who 
praise the quality of the service and support offered. The only area of challenge 
provided by people who access the service is in relation to the timeliness of access, 
which is in line with the identified capacity challenges and current commissioning 
arrangements. 

Page 42



Review Paper 
Page 23 19/02/2020

Section 8 Options Summary           

Having outlined the above challenges the service current faces, there are a number 
of options for consideration for further exploration.

8.1 Option 1: Do Nothing 

Doing nothing is not a viable option. The requirements of the NHS LTP, challenges 
in meeting NICE guidance and the local challenges regarding capacity in the service 
highlight the need to take action to address the growing waiting list and future proof 
the service. 

8.2 Option 2: Increase capacity within the GMMH service to meet the 18 week 
referral to treatment target. 

Option 2 suggests an increase in capacity within the service (approximately double 
current capacity) to manage the existing demand. This would support the service to 
operate in a timely manner to our local 18 week target with enough resource to meet 
NICE guidance. 

Risks Benefit
 The lack of parity between the 

waiting times and service offer 
between CYP EDS and adult EDS 
will continue

 Will require a period of time to 
reduce waiting times and align to 
new targets 

 Potential requirements to increase 
staffing may highlight workforce 
challenges 

 Increase in service user, carer, 
GP/referrer and staff satisfaction

 Improvement in clinical outcomes
 Meeting current NICE Quality 

Standard on waiting times
 Commissioned to meet presenting 

level of demand reducing the risk 
of building a waiting list.

 Reduced length of wait for people 
referred to the service 

 Increase capacity in a known 
service of high quality. 

In addition to the increased capacity, option two would also benefit from the following 
inclusions: 

1. Medical Input (Phlebotomy, Interpretation and Management of Results, 
Prescribing, Support to Primary Care and Acute Hospitals)

2. FREED (Early Intervention)
3. Family Therapy
4. SEED (Severe and Enduring)

Costings for this option are as follows. This is inclusive of the current contract value 
of £110,600:

Page 43



Review Paper 
Page 24 19/02/2020

Option 2 – Lower Referral Threshold Costings 
(90 referrals and 80 Treatment Starts)

Page 44



Review Paper 
Page 25 19/02/2020

Option 2 – Upper Referral Threshold Costings 
(120 referrals and 110 Treatment Starts)

 

Page 45



Review Paper 
Page 26 19/02/2020

8.3 Option 3 (Preferred Option): Increase capacity within the GMMH service to align 
with CYP timescales. 

This option would see the service provision increase capacity to manage the current 
level of demand in line with the CYP referral to treatment targets. This would ensure 
sufficient capacity to meet demand, achieve NICE compliant care and would provide 
parity between CYP and adult services, reducing challenges at the point of transition. 
As the service would be operating to CYP referral to treatment timescales, it would 
be inclusive of the FREED pathway (early intervention). The costings also include 
capacity for care coordination. 

Risks Benefit
 Will require a period of time to reduce 

waiting times and align to new targets 
 Potential requirements to increase 

staffing may highlight workforce 
challenges 

 Parity between CYP and Adult 
waiting times, reducing the 
challenges experienced at the point 
of transition. 

 Increase in service user, carer, 
GP/referrer and staff satisfaction

 Improvement in clinical outcomes
 Improved medical oversight and 

support to primary care 
 Meeting current NICE Quality 

Standard on waiting times
 Commissioned to meet presenting 

level of demand reducing the risk of 
building a waiting list.

 Reduced length of wait for people 
referred to the service 

 Increase capacity in a known service 
of high quality. 

In addition to the increased capacity, option three would also benefit from the 
following additions:  

 Medical Input (Phlebotomy, Interpretation and Management of Results, 
Prescribing, Support to Primary Care and Acute Hospital)

 FREED (Early Intervention)
 Family Therapy
 SEED (Severe and Enduring)

Appendix 1 provides a summary of the service pathway and is applicable to both the 
upper and lower referral thresholds.

Costings for this option are as follows. This is inclusive of the current contract value 
of £110,600:

Page 46



Review Paper 
Page 27 19/02/2020

Option 3 – Lower Referral Threshold Costings 
(90 referrals and 80 Treatment Starts)

Page 47



Review Paper 
Page 28 19/02/2020

Option 3 – Upper Referral Threshold Costings 
(120 referrals and 110 Treatment Starts)

8.4 Addressing the referral backlog

Two options for addressing the current waiting list are provided, options A and B 
below:

Option A – Waiting List Initiative (preferred option)
As detailed in section 3.2.2 above, as of the end of September 2019 there were 46 
people waiting for treatment. Analysis of the clinical pathways demonstrates that the 
following referral demand and clinical time would be required to address this 
backlog. 

Page 48



Review Paper 
Page 29 19/02/2020

Analysis of the referral to treatment waiting list on 24.01.20 demonstrates that this 
has shown marginal reduction to 44 people waiting to commence treatment and that 
the service is therefore containing this demand.

Based on 1.0 wte working 42 weeks per year (1575 hours) and therefore 787.5 
hours over a six month period it would require 1.8 wte clinical staff to clear the 
existing backlog over the six month period. While the service has been able to 
contain the current waiting list to 46 this may increase. The table below shows the 
increase in establishment required (second column) or the number of weeks it would 
take for 1.8 wte clinicians (third column) to clear the backlog waiting list should it 
increase beyond the current 46 service users.

To address this current backlog would require an additional 1.8wte clinical staff, the 
costings of this are provided below though would need to either increase 
proportionately to the number on the waiting list at the time of implementation or be 
delivered over a longer period as indicated above.

Salford EDS Waiting List Costings (based on 46 service users)

*all estimates of staff costings include on-costs and are based on 2020/21 AfC Payscales at mid-point

Option B – Waiting List Initiative 
To address the 46 people waiting for treatment additional resource would be 
required in order to get the service to the point that waiting time targets are achieved. 
Option 2 does not offer additional resource to enable this though both the lower and 
upper referral threshold options in Option 3 provide an additional 0.8wte clinical time. 
While this resource is to achieve the CYP waiting time standard, if option 3 is 

Page 49



Review Paper 
Page 30 19/02/2020

selected, it is proposed within this WLI that the additional 0.8wte resource is initially 
used to address the backlog of waiters. Consequently, this would delay the start of 
the CYP waiting time standard until the backlog is cleared. Analysis of the pathways 
projects, as detailed in Option A above, demonstrates that 1447 hours of clinical time 
are required to address the backlog of 46 people waiting for treatment. 

The additional establishment would equate to 24.2 hours per week (1260 hours per 
year). It is therefore projected that with this additional resource the backlog of 
referrals could be eliminated within 60 weeks. Using this additional resource to 
eliminate the referral backlog will, however, impact on the capacity to deliver to the 
CYP referral to treatment times within this period. It is noted that the service have 
been able to contain the referral backlog since September 2019, though if this 
increases so too will the time period within which the backlog can be addressed. The 
chart below demonstrates the linear increase in time it would take to address the 
waiting list should the current backlog increase.

46 47 48 49 50 51 52 53 54 55 56 57 58 59 60
0

20

40

60

80

100

Backlog Waiting List 

Number of backlog waiters

N
um

be
r o

f w
ee

ks
 

Once the backlog has been addressed the service would be able to commence the 
CYP waiting time standard as agreed for Option 3. 

8. 5 Addressing Possible Workforce Challenges of Option 2 and 3

If there is increased investment in the Eating Disorder Service, attracting high calibre 
candidates will be a priority to deliver the outcomes expected. The service has 
historically attracted very good applicants to psychological therapy (including family 
therapy) and dietetic posts advertised. Increased dietetic and administration time will 
be possible from current staffing increasing their hours. The main challenges are 
likely to be in relation to family therapy and psychiatry input. There has been more 
demand for family therapists since the advent of CYP EDS. However, the national 
training for these teams has also resulted in more therapists being trained in 
systemic therapy. Therefore if the service was not able to recruit a family therapist, a 
systemic therapist would be advertised as an alternative. 

It is acknowledged that there is a national shortage of general and eating disorder 
psychiatrists and this is the same picture in the North West. As this is a part-time role 
there may be a psychiatrist who is looking to increase their hours. If recruitment of a 
psychiatrist was not possible then the service would then advertise for a specialist 
GP and identify training and supervision to support this post. This is the option of 
medical input that other EDS in the North West have been able to secure. A 

Page 50



Review Paper 
Page 31 19/02/2020

recruitment plan including contingencies and a timetable for achievement are 
provided in Appendix 2

Section 10   Implementation                     

10.1 Governance and Monitoring / Reporting Arrangements 

Key Performance Indicators of the service are:

1. Waiting times from referral to treatment.
2. Clinical outcomes as measured by the Eating Disorder Examination – 

Questionnaire which is considered the gold standard measure in eating 
disorder services and allows for benchmarking. 

3. Service user feedback questionnaire which is completed at the end of 
treatment. 

4. Carer feedback questionnaire which is completed at two time points, on 
receipt of psychoeducation and on attendance at each carer support group. 

5. Self-assessment against NICE Quality Standards (undertaken annually in 
April) and the new GM transition standards. 

The current performance reporting framework would be reviewed to ensure robust 
data is available to monitor the performance of the service should any additional 
investment be secured. 

Section 11      Conclusions and Recommendation                     

Eating Disorders are severe mental health problems with high levels of disability and 
mortality. Well-developed psychological treatments exist and full recovery is possible 
for approximately 50% of adults with an additional 30% experiencing improvements 
in their condition. The majority of individuals with eating disorders should be offered 
early, evidence based psychological treatment in the community (NICE, 2017) and 
an innovative, effective, low-cost early intervention package has been recently 
developed (FREED) which extends the current recommended pathways.

Salford CCG commissions a specialist community eating disorder service which 
provides high quality; evidence based psychological and dietetic interventions. 
Support is also provided for carers. Medical monitoring is not commissioned in the 
service, remaining instead with primary care, causing challenges around medical 
oversight. Demand for the service is high and the service consistently receives more 
than double the number of commissioned referrals per annum (50). In addition, there 
are also a number of other factors which are demanding increased capacity:

1) The main psychological intervention for anorexia nervosa (CBT-ED) doubled 
in length from 20 to 40 individual sessions in the current NICE Guidance 
(2017). 

2) Increase in number of referrals for binge eating presentations following 
changes in DSM-V.

3) The commissioning of CYP EDS and specialist perinatal services has resulted 
in an increase of urgent referrals for the service as transition cases and 
females who are pregnant are groups prioritised for assessment and 
treatment. 

Page 51



Review Paper 
Page 32 19/02/2020

4) An increase in complexity of referrals including complex transition cases and 
an increase of individuals with comorbid conditions including ASD and Type I 
diabetes. These cases require the higher steps of the current care pathways 
and increased liaison and case management. 

5) A significant reduction over recent years in the number of individuals referred 
for day-care, which is provided by The Priory, Cheadle Royal and increased 
bed pressures in specialist eating disorder units. 

The service continues to offer assessments and treatments to urgent referrals largely 
within service standards. However, the impact of the above factors is a significant 
increase in waiting times for routine referrals. Individuals with eating disorders on 
waiting lists for treatment either continue to be as symptomatic or deteriorate and 
they typically interpret long waits as evidence that they are not significantly unwell 
enough for treatment (Beat, 2019). Waits for treatment also have a negative impact 
on outcome. 

The above changes in referrals have resulted in a higher number of individuals with 
complex physical health needs remaining under the service. Also 20% of individuals 
will not respond to treatments and a percentage of this group will develop a severe 
and enduring eating disorder. The service has received an increasing number of 
GPs refusing to complete NICE recommended physical investigations. A recent audit 
has provided further evidence of these investigations not being completed for a 
majority of individuals. The NCCMH Guideline identifies medical monitoring as an 
essential component of adult community eating disorder services due to the high 
rates of mortality. 

Beat (2019) and PHSO (2017) have recently highlighted waiting times for adult 
eating disorder services, the variance in commissioning of adult eating disorder 
services as well as the lack of parity which now exists between children and young 
person’s eating disorder service waiting times and service offer and those for the 
adult eating disorder service. The NCCMH Guideline outlines bringing in line the 
service offer of children and young people and adult eating disorder services. 

The paper outlines the details of the review of the current Community EDS service 
and provides an overview of three options for further exploration.

Recommendations: 

1. That SFG supports the business case for option 3 (increased capacity to 
meet CYP waiting times targets, including medical input, FREED, SEED 
and family therapy.). 

2. That SFG supports the revision of the adult ED specification to take into 
account the increase in capacity, medical provision, FREED, family 
therapy and integration of approaches with CYP specifications to 
support transition and to move to outcomes based monitoring as 
identified in 5.3.5

Page 52



Review Paper 
Page 33 19/02/2020

Section 12    References

Beat (2013). Waiting times survey results. https://b-
eat.co.uk/assets/000/000/171/Waiting times survey resultsv2 original.pdf

Beat (2015). The costs of eating disorders: Social, health and economic impacts. 
https://www.b-eat.co.uk/assets/000/000/302/The costs of eating disorders Final 
original.pdf

Beat (2019). Lives at risk: The state of NHS adult community eating disorder 
services in England. 

Carter, O, Pannekoek, L, Fursland, A, Allen, K. L., Lampard, A. M. & Byrne, S. M. 
(2012). Increased wait-list predicts dropout from outpatient enhanced cognitive 
behaviour therapy (CBT-E) for eating disorders. Behaviour Research and Therapy, 
50, 487-492. 

Department of Health (2014). Closing the Gap: Priorities for Essential Change in 
Mental Health. 

Department of Health (2014). Achieving Better Access to Mental Health Services by 
2020. 

The Mental Health Taskforce (2016). The Five Year Forward View of Mental Health. 

National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health (2019). Adult Eating Disorders: 
Community, Inpatient and Intensive Day patient Care. Guidance for Commissioners 
and Providers

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2018). Eating Disorders Quality 
Standard [QS175]. Retrieved from https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs175. 
Accessed 2 April 2019. 

NHS Long Term Plan 2019
eat (2015)    
NICE (2017). Eating Disorders: Recognition and Treatment, NG69.

Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (2017). Ignoring the alarms: How 
NHS eating disorder services are failing patients.

Treasure, J. (2009). A guide to the medical risk assessment for eating disorders. 
Kings College. 

Treasure, J., Stein, D. & Maguire, S. (2015). Has the time come for a staging model 
to map the course of eating disorders from high risk to severe enduring illness? An 
examination of the evidence. Early Intervention in Psychiatry, 9, 173-184.

Page 53

https://b-eat.co.uk/assets/000/000/171/Waiting%20times%20survey%20resultsv2
https://b-eat.co.uk/assets/000/000/171/Waiting%20times%20survey%20resultsv2
https://www.b-eat.co.uk/assets/000/000/302/The
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs175


Review Paper 
Page 34 19/02/2020

Appendix 1 – Pathway Model

Medical Monitoring and Management 

Carers psycho education and carers support group every 6 to 8 weeks (2 hours) annum

Dietetic Assessment and Intervention 

P
age 54



Review Paper 
Page 35 19/02/2020

Appendix 2 – Recruitment Plan

The business case for the Salford EDS requires an increase in the clinical establishment to meet both the increased demand and the 
improved service offer in relation to clinical pathways and referral to assessment/treatment timescales. The service acknowledges that this 
will be challenging though has been in close dialogue with commissioners in relation to this.

The table below summarises each post, recruitment risks and potential contingency options if recruitment is delayed.

Post Band WTE Recruitment Risks Contingency Options
Clinical Lead 8a 0.15 Currently in post – no risks None required
Consultant 
Psychiatrist

N/A 0.20 This post is likely to be difficult to recruit to as 
Consultants specialising in EDS are unusual 
and it is acknowledged that there is a national 
shortage of general and eating disorder 
psychiatrists. 

i. Look across the GMMH pool of psychiatrists and where there 
may be a clinician looking for the opportunity to increase their 
sessional work.

ii. Advertise for a Specialist GP with training and supervision for 
this post.

Clinical 
Psychologist 

8a 1.00 Currently in post – no risks None required

Family 
Therapist

0.20 The service has historically attracted very good 
applicants to psychological therapy (including 
family therapy) though there has been more 
demand for family therapists since the advent of 
CYP EDS, making this more difficult to recruit to.

The national training for these teams has resulted in more 
therapists being trained in systemic therapy. Therefore if the 
service was not able to recruit a family therapist, a systemic 
therapist would be advertised as an alternative. This would be a 
lower banded post and would go out to a wider pool of clinicians.

Clinical 
Psychologist

7 2.10 There may not be clinicians with EDS 
experience applying to these posts.

Broaden the recruitment to clinical psychologists looking to 
develop their skills within the specialism of EDS. Training would 
then be provided upon commencing the role enabling them to start 
immediately with, initially, increased supervision.

Dietician 7 0.10 The current post holder is 0.15wte and wishes to 
increase their hours.

Increase current post holder’s hours.

Mental Health 
Practitioner

6 0.85 The availability of clinicians is not currently clear. Advertise as a training/developmental post. Potential opportunity 
to use temporary staff from NHS Professionals.

Physical 
Health 
Practitioner

4 0.15 Due to the limited number of hours this would 
potentially be difficult to recruit to. 

i. Opportunity for an existing GMMH employee to increase their 
hours providing sessions in the EDS.

ii. EDS to buy in the service from another provider – i.e. CMHT, 
GP Practice.

P
age 55



Review Paper 
Page 36 19/02/2020

iii. Temporary staffing through NHS Professionals.
Administrator 3 0.30 There are less likely to be risks associated with 

recruitment to this post.
i. Temporary staffing through NHS Professionals.

A timetable for the recruitment programme is shown below:

In Summary:
There is an achievement plan for all additional posts created by this development. Where current skilled expertise is not available, the 
service will attract skilled applicants and support their development through training and development opportunities. This will be 
strengthened by the broader development of the Eating Disorder Services within GMMH, developing the specialism, making posts more 
appealing and attracting professional expertise.

P
age 56



Review Paper 
Page 37 19/02/2020

Appendix 3 - Equality Impact Assessment Form
Part 1

1. Your name 
Magdalene Sampson, Clinical Lead, 
GMMH Eating Disorder Service

2. Date EIA completed
15/01/2020

3. Name of policy or service development being assessed? 
GMMH Salford Community Eating Disorder Service Business Case

4. Name of lead person responsible for the policy or service development? 
Deborah Partington, Executive Director of Operations

5. Describe the main aim of the policy or service development 
GMMH Salford Eating Disorder Service has produced a business case (in 
conjunction with Salford CCG) outlining a range of options regarding development 
with the aim of being a more responsive, safe and effective service. The options 
include increasing the capacity of the service to reduce referral to treatment 
waiting times and increasing the service offer. 

6. What evidence have you considered to understand the impact of the policy or 
service development on people with different protected characteristics?  
As part of the development of the business case, the service checked that the 
referral rates of people with protected characteristics including gender and 
ethnicity reflected the prevalence of eating disorders in these populations in the 
literature. Prevalence is less known in people with other protected characteristics.

7. Have you explained, consulted or involved people who might be affected by the 
policy or service development? 
Service users and carers have been consulted about the proposed developments 
and have also provided feedback on the business case. Other stakeholders 
including the main referrers to the service have also been consulted and provided 
their views of the proposed developments. 

Part 2 
 Does the evidence you have considered suggest that the policy or service 
development could have a potentially positive or negative impact on equality, 
discrimination or good relations for people with protected characteristics? 

Page 57



Review Paper 
Page 38 19/02/2020

Age Positive impact: Yes / No Negative impact: Yes / No 
Please summarise potential impacts:
If Option 2 is the preferred option of the CCG and an early intervention pathway is 
introduced then this is likely to result in service users who are younger (due to 
having a duration of illness of less than three years) being prioritised for 
assessment and treatment. However, this could result in older service users who 
have a longer than three-year duration of illness waiting longer for assessment and 
treatment. However, in the evaluation by South London and Maudsley NHS Trust, 
no negative impact on waiting times for non-FREED service users was found. 

Disability Positive impact: Yes / No Negative impact: Yes / No 
Please summarise potential impacts: 
n/a
Gender re-assignment Positive impact: Yes / No Negative impact: Yes / No 
Please summarise potential impacts:
n/a
Marriage & Civil 
Partnership

Positive impact: Yes / No Negative impact: Yes / No 

Please summarise potential impacts:
n/a

Pregnancy and Maternity Positive impact: Yes / No Negative impact: Yes / No 
Please summarise potential impacts:
Service users who are pregnant are currently prioritised for assessment and 
intervention. Increased capacity would allow the service to be more responsive 
and with dietetic and medical staff the comprehensiveness of care would be 
increased. 
Race Positive impact: Yes / No Negative impact: Yes / No 
Please summarise potential impacts:
n/a
Religion and Belief Positive impact: Yes / No Negative impact: Yes / No 
Please summarise potential impacts:
n/a
Sex Positive impact: Yes / No Negative impact: Yes / No 
Please summarise potential impacts:
n/a
Sexual Orientation Positive impact: Yes / No Negative impact: Yes / No 
Please summarise potential impacts:
n/a

If you have identified a negative impact for a protected characteristic, complete the 
action plan below in PART 3: EIA Action Plan  

Page 58



Review Paper 
Page 39 19/02/2020

PART 3: Equality Impact Assessment Action plan 

Potential impact Proposed actions Responsible/ 
lead person 

Timescale Progress

1. In Option 2, older 
service users 
(who have > 3 
year duration of 
illness) could 
potentially wait 
longer than 
service users with 
a < 3 year 
duration of illness 
who are more 
likely to be 
younger.

If this option is 
preferred by CCG:
Referral to 
Treatment (RTT) 
waiting times for 
the age groups are 
included in the 
service 
performance 
report and will be 
monitored to 
check the 
difference.
If this is 
significantly 
different this will 
be raised with the 
CCG.

Magdalene 
Sampson 
Clinical 
Lead, 
GMMH 
Eating 
Disorder 
Service

2.

3.

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                          

ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE (ACC) 

AGENDA ITEM NO: 6

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

11th March 2020 (Date of Meeting)

Report of: Chief Finance Officer

Date of Paper: 3rd March 2020

Subject: Finance Report

In case of query 
Please contact:

David Warhurst, Chief Finance Officer
0161 212 6159

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
 Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)

Children’s and Maternity Services
Primary Care

 Enabling Transformation
Purpose of Paper:                                   

The purpose of this paper is to provide the Adults’ Commissioning Committee with:

 An update on the 2019/20 financial performance of the Integrated Fund for Adult 
services (Section 3).

 An update on the additional funding approved for Adult Social Care, including 
benefits realisation, latest forecast spend position and approval from the national 
team on the Better Care Fund (BCF) (Sections 4 and 5).

Page 61

Agenda Item 6



                                      
Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

X

Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

X

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally?
Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed) 

X

Legal Advice Sought
X

Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

X
Detailed financial position reported to 
the Service and Finance Group (SFG) 
on 3rd March 2020.

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 62



                                      
Adults Commissioning Committee (ACC)

Finance Report – 11th March 2020

1. Executive Summary

This finance report provides the Adults’ Commissioning Committee (ACC) with an in-year 
update in relation to the financial performance of the adults’ element of the Integrated 
Fund at month 10 2019/20.  It should however be noted at the time of writing the report, 
month 10 finances had not been fully validated. 

At month 10, the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund is currently forecasting to 
overspend by c. £2.7m.  This is an improvement of c. £0.2m from the last finance report to 
February’s ACC, which had a forecast year end overspend of c. £2.9m.

Section 2.4 highlights the main areas of over and under performance within the adults’ 
Integrated Fund.  Adult Social Care (ASC) is forecasting to overspend by £6.1m, despite 
commissioners funding £1.5m in pressures in 2019/20. Effectively spend has increased 
year on year by £2.4m

There is a financial risk share in place in the contract between the commissioners and the 
provider whereby Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust (SRFT) will contribute £3.3m 
towards the over performance for 2019/20 and a fixed agreed amount of £2.8m is charged 
to the Integrated Fund. This financial pressure for the Integrated Fund is offset by £3.3m 
funding released from committed developments, primarily relating to the additional ASC 
grant of £1.4m and an in-year funding allocation to the CCG of £0.9m.

Section 3 reports the findings of the working group that was established to review the key 
areas of overspend in Adult Social Care (ASC), namely Learning Disabilities and 
Residential Care.

Section 4 focuses on the ‘improved Better Care Fund’ (iBCF) providing an update on the 
measures that have been developed to show how the additional funding will improve 
outcomes for the population being supported. 

ACC is asked to note the in-year and forecast position for the adult’s Integrated Fund for 
2019/20.

Page 63



                                      
2. 2019/20 IN YEAR MONITORING

2.1 This latest finance report provides the Adults’ Commissioning Committee (ACC) with 
in-year update on how the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund is performing in the 
financial year (2019/20).  The appendices contain a lot of detail and are appended to 
give members a more thorough understanding of the scope of the Integrated Fund.  
There are explanatory notes included in the appendices which hopefully explain the 
key messages contained within them.

2.2 This finance report is based on information up to the end of January 2020.  A detailed 
analysis of the position for each of the adults’ services within the Integrated Fund is 
shown in Appendices One to Six.

2.3 The Service and Finance Group (SFG) reviewed the budgets in detail at the 
meetings on the 3rd March 2020.  At this stage of the year, the year-end forecast is 
an over spend of £2.7m, as shown in Table 1 below.  

Table 1: 2019/20 Financial Summary

YTD 
Budget

 YTD 
Actual

YTD 
Variance

Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
ACC

Movement 
in Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s Notes

TOTAL FUNDING £327,697 £328,114 £417 £396,550 £397,050 £500 £500 - 

Adult Social Care £78,033 £80,366 £2,333 £93,639 £96,439 £2,800 £2,800 - See Appendix 1
Acute Services £71,629 £73,255 £1,626 £85,955 £87,906 £1,951 £1,951 - See Appendix 2
Community Services £24,178 £23,982 -£196 £29,013 £28,667 -£346 -£346 - See Appendix 3

TOTAL - ICO £173,840 £177,604 £3,764 £208,608 £213,013 £4,405 £4,405 - 

Acute Services £22,133 £22,591 £458 £26,560 £27,152 £593 £562 £30
Adult Social Care £3,132 £3,132 - £3,758 £3,634 -£124 -£98 -£26
Adult Social Care - Capital £2,571 £2,571 - £3,085 £3,085 - - -
Community Assets/ Voluntary Sector £1,544 £1,543 -£1 £1,853 £1,851 -£2 -£2 -
Community Services £2,051 £2,158 £107 £2,461 £2,574 £113 £16 £97
Continuing Health Care & Funded Nursing Care £5,562 £5,466 -£96 £6,675 £6,465 -£210 -£51 -£159
Mental Health Services - NHS £29,403 £29,392 -£11 £35,284 £35,272 -£12 -£12 -
Mental Health Services - Private & Voluntary Sector £6,393 £6,088 -£305 £7,671 £7,350 -£322 -£227 -£95
Public Health Services £7,038 £7,038 - £8,445 £8,380 -£65 -£65 -

TOTAL - Non ICO £79,827 £79,978 £151 £95,792 £95,764 -£28 £124 -£152 See Appendix 4

Acute Services £64,279 £66,002 £1,723 £77,134 £79,198 £2,064 £2,064 -
Ambulance Services £8,557 £8,557 - £10,268 £10,286 £18 £18 -
Community Services £46 £46 £0 £55 £55 - - -
NHS 111 £627 £624 -£3 £752 £749 -£3 -£3 -£0
Termination of Pregnancies £523 £565 £42 £628 £688 £61 £61 -

TOTAL - Aligned £74,031 £75,794 £1,763 £88,837 £90,977 £2,140 £2,140 -£0 See Appendix 5

Committed Developments - - - £3,313 £33 -£3,280 -£3,280 -

TOTAL - Committed Developments - - - £3,313 £33 -£3,280 -£3,280 - See Appendix 6

TOTAL EXPENDITIURE £327,697 £333,376 £5,678 £396,550 £399,787 £3,237 £3,389 -£153

Over/(Under) Spend - £5,262 £5,262 - £2,737 £2,737 £2,889 -£153

£'000's %
£2,162 79% £2,283 -£121

£575 21% £607 -£32
£2,737 100% £2,889 -£153

2019/20 Monitoring

Description
CCG Element of Over/(Under) Spend

Council Element of Over/(Under) Spend
Grand Total

Previous Riskshare

Page 64



                                      
The main reasons for the under and overspends against each of the sections are:

2.4.1 ICO Adult Social Care (ASC) Services (Appendix 1):  These services are currently 
forecast to over spend by £6.1m in 2019/20.  There has been an improvement of 
£0.2m since the last report and relates to improvements in Residential Placements.  

This year a risk share has been agreed between commissioners and Salford Royal 
(SRFT) in relation to ASC spend only.  Under the terms of the risk share, SRFT will 
pick up over £3m of this overspend and the financial risk to the Integrated Fund is a 
fixed forecast at £2.8m which is illustrated in table 1.

This represents a £2.4m worsening of position when compared to 2018/19. More 
detail on this can be found in the appendix.  However this has been offset by the 
releasing of funds within committed developments in 2.4.6 below. 

2.4.2 ICO Acute Hospital Services (Appendix 2):  Activity information has been received 
from SRFT relating to April 2019 to January 2020.  These services are forecast to 
over perform by £1.9m on adult services in 2019/20.  This is in line with the last 
report to this committee further details can be found in the appendix.

2.4.3 ICO Community Services (Appendix 3):  These services are currently forecast to 
underspend by £0.3m in 2019/20.  This is in line with the last report to this committee 
further details can be found in the appendix.

2.4.4 Non ICO Services (Appendix 4):  This year there are more services within this area 
due to the expansion of the integrated fund for 2019/20.  These services are forecast 
to almost breakeven in 2019/20 this is an improvement of £0.1m from the last report 
to this committee.  There has been a reduction in the Continuing Health Care and 
Mental Health placements this has been offset by increased activity within community 
services.

2.4.5 Aligned Services (Appendix 5):  These services are forecast to overspend by £2.0m 
in 2019/20.  This is in line with the last report to this committee further details can be 
found in the appendix. 

2.4.6 Committed Developments (Appendix 6):  There has been no change to the 
committed developments from the last report to this committee, further details can be 
found in the appendix.  

Page 65



                                      
3. ADULT SOCIAL CARE (ASC) FINANCE & PERFORMANCE GROUP

3.1 The group has met a number of times with the last meeting being in February 2020. 
The main focus of this meeting was around the performance measures for ASC with 
a review to be undertaken on the measures to be included for 2020/21 as currently 
there is duplication on the reporting of performance across a number of local 
measures that have been in place for the last few years.

3.2 The group is also continuing to progress further analysis of the residential dataset 
with the refreshed quarter 3 data received for 2019/20. Further updates on this will be 
provided in due course.

Findings from the group and recommendations will be reported back to the contract 
meeting and Service and Finance Group (SFG) in due course.

4. BETTER CARE FUND

4.1 Performance information has been received up to December 2019. This was 
received within the appropriate timescales following escalation of previous timeliness 
issues at recent contract meetings. 

Despite some improvements in terms of data completeness, there continue to be 
some gaps in the information received, with 9 of 61 reportable measures in the 
reporting period containing no information in the performance report.

Similarly, reported performance against locally defined thresholds has seen some 
improvement compared to the November but continues to face significant challenges, 
with 18 of 61 reportable  measures not achieving target in December (note: there is 
an element of duplication across the overall suite of measures which exacerbates 
this slightly).

Commissioner and provider colleagues have recently met to review the suite of 
performance measures with the intention of rationalising them. It is recognised that 
the suite has grown since the transfer of ASC services into the ICO; with a significant 
number of additional measures recently being introduced as part of the Local 
Incentive Scheme work stream (formerly New Currency Models). It is expected that 
recommendations will be presented to ASC Commissioning Group in March.

Page 66



                                      
5. Recommendations

5.1 The Adults’ Commissioning Committee (ACC) is asked to:

 Note the in year and forecast position of the adults’ services within the Integrated 
Fund for 2019/20.

David Warhurst
Chief Financial Officer, Salford CCG
4th March 2020

Page 67



                                      
Appendix 1 – ICO Adult Social Care 2019/20

Analysis of Adult Social Care By 
Client Group

YTD 
Budget

 YTD Actual
YTD 

Variance
Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
ACC

Movement 
in Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Learning Disabilities £24,885 £26,382 £1,497 £29,798 £31,661 £1,864 £1,722 £141
Physical Disability £17,805 £20,426 £2,620 £21,296 £24,511 £3,214 £3,300 -£86
Mental Health £9,065 £9,767 £701 £10,849 £11,701 £852 £874 -£21
Older People £10,769 £11,739 £970 £12,890 £14,198 £1,308 £1,495 -£186
Sensory £681 £645 -£35 £815 £777 -£38 -£47 £8
Other £10,097 £7,448 -£2,649 £12,316 £12,211 -£105 -£309 £205
Care Act £2,529 £1,830 -£699 £3,033 £2,167 -£866 -£825 -£41
Support Services £1,440 £1,440 -£0 £1,728 £1,728 -£0 -£0 £0
iBCF £759 £690 -£69 £911 £817 -£94 -£74 -£20
SRFT Contribution £3 -£3 £4 -£3,331 -£3,335 -£3,335 £0

TOTAL £78,033 £80,366 £2,333 £93,639 £96,439 £2,800 £2,800 -£0

2019/20 Monitoring

Notes on this Appendix:

This appendix shows all of the Adult Social Care services that are managed by the ICO 
(Salford Royal) and totals £93.6m for 2019/20.  The budget for 2019/20 was set at the 
recurrent budget value for 2018/19 plus an increase of £1.5m for cost pressures in relation to 
The Limes, Bourke Gardens, Residential and Learning Difficulties Placements.  

These services are forecast to overspend by around £6.1m in 2019/20 and highlights the over 
spend is within Older People and Physical Disability (Residential Care).  There has been an 
improvement in forecast of £0.2m since the last report relating to Residential Placements.  
Last year these services overspent by £5.2m taking into account commissioners funded £1.5m 
of pressures, this represents a worsening of position of £2.4m in 2019/20.  

Commissioners have agreed to a fixed contribution of £2.8m for this year which is in line with 
the financial risk share in place between the provider and commissioners. For clarity of the 
£6.1m pressure, SRFT will pick-up £0.5m directly leaving £5.6m that will be applied against 
the risk share agreement which is set at 50/50 for 2019/20.

Page 68



Page 9 of 13

Appendix 2 – ICO Hospital Based Services (SRFT Acute) 2019/20
SALFORD CCG
Salford Royal ICO
SLAM Data 10
Reporting Month 10

Reporting 
Month Plan 

(SLAM)

Adjusted 
Actual 

(Reporting 
Month)

Variance 
(Reporting 

Month)      
over/(under) 
performance

Annual Plan 
(SLAM)

Forecast 
Adjusted 

Actual

Forecast 
Variance  

over/(under) 
performance

% 
Performance 

to Annual 
Plan

Reporting 
Month Plan 

(SLAM)

Adjusted 
Actual 

(Reporting 
Month)

Variance 
(Reporting 

Month)      
over/(under) 
performance

Annual Plan 
(SLAM)

Forecast 
Adjusted 

Actual

Forecast 
Variance  

over/(under) 
performance

% 
Performance 

to Annual 
Plan

Reported 
Previously 

to ACC
Movement

% 
Movement

A&E 50918.06557 50253 -665 60902 60462 -440 -1% £9,160,476 £9,247,034 £86,558 £11,082,804 £11,154,707 £71,903 1% £71,903 -£0 0%
Unplanned Admissions 9774.238136 10095 321 16472.55191 17321 848 5% £28,556,026 £29,570,144 £1,014,118 £37,318,676 £38,905,135 £1,586,459 4% £1,586,459 - 0%
Excess Bed Days 21983.15615 26226 4,243 6178 9976 3,798 61% £4,821,780 £4,918,844 £97,064 £1,577,593 £1,450,391 -£127,202 -8% -£127,202 - 0%
Outpatients 64024.48533 67402 3,378 86149.24874 89307 3,158 4% £10,447,191 £11,273,196 £826,005 £11,426,861 £11,854,523 £427,662 4% £427,662 -£0 0%
Daycase & Elective 9628.532284 10846.5 1,218 11608.72637 12399 790 7% £15,906,094 £11,807,332 -£4,098,763 £6,875,943 £7,193,424 £317,481 5% £317,481 - 0%
All Other (PbR Excluded, non activity Services) 4362.590164 4804 441 10895 12526 1,631 15% £2,737,580 £6,438,656 £3,701,075 £17,673,101 £17,348,067 -£325,034 -2% -£325,034 - 0%
Grand Total 160691.0676 169626.5 8,935 192205.527 201991 9,785 5% £71,629,148 £73,255,205 £1,626,057 £85,954,978 £87,906,247 £1,951,269 2% £1,951,269 -£0 0%

Year To Date Month 10 Forecast Year End Variance (Price)

Point of Delivery

Activity Price Movement in Forecast
Year To Date Month 10 Forecast Year End

Notes on this Appendix:

This appendix shows the hospital based services that are within scope of the ICO and the Pooled budget, all relating to Salford Royal.  This 
table shows activity and spend by care setting (A&E department, unplanned admissions, planned admissions and outpatients).  

The main over performance is within Unplanned Admissions.  The activity has increased in this area since the last report and we have seen 
that costs are higher than plan but with activity increasing at a higher rate which indicates the complexity/acuity of patients being admitted is 
lower.  Usually during the winter months we see a reduction in planned care but as the trust have been reducing waiting lists where possible 
this activity has remained at similar levels to earlier in the year.

P
age 69



Page 10 of 13

Appendix 3 – ICO Community Services (SRFT Community) 2019/20

Description
YTD 

Budget
 YTD Actual

YTD 
Variance

Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
ACC

Movement in 
Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
District Nursing £6,760 £6,760 - £8,113 £7,982 -£131 -£131 -
Intermediate Care £5,853 £5,853 - £7,024 £7,024 - - -
MSK £2,023 £1,986 -£37 £2,427 £2,402 -£25 -£25 -
Podiatry £1,779 £1,755 -£24 £2,135 £2,106 -£29 -£29 -
Other £680 £677 -£3 £815 £812 -£3 -£3 £0
Anticoagulation (Community) £766 £640 -£126 £919 £768 -£151 -£151 -
Adult Audiology £687 £692 £5 £825 £830 £5 £5 -£0
Palliative Care £595 £595 - £714 £714 - - -
Cardiac Rehabilitation £542 £549 £7 £651 £659 £8 £8 -£0
Community Neuro Rehab £533 £560 £27 £640 £672 £32 £32 -£0
Adult Diabetes £501 £529 £28 £601 £635 £33 £33 -£0
Continence £480 £462 -£19 £576 £554 -£22 -£22 £0
Centre of Contact £392 £392 - £470 £470 - - -
Physiotherapy Adults £383 £389 £6 £460 £467 £7 £7 -
Early Supported Discharge - Stroke £302 £302 - £362 £362 - - -
Tissue Viability £291 £277 -£15 £350 £332 -£17 -£17 -
Cardiology £233 £233 - £279 £279 - - -
Community Dietetics £202 £194 -£8 £242 £233 -£9 -£9 -
Physiotherapy - Hip & Knee £198 £129 -£70 £238 £154 -£84 -£84 -
Dermatology £137 £135 -£2 £164 £162 -£2 -£2 £0
Osteoporosis £126 £126 - £152 £152 - - -
Specialist Nursing £119 £119 - £143 £143 - - -
Orthotics £113 £147 £34 £136 £177 £41 £41 -
Smoking Cessation £111 £111 - £134 £134 - - -
Community Geriatrian £105 £105 - £126 £126 - - -
Pulmonary Rehab £103 £103 - £124 £124 - - -
Adult Speech & Language Therapy £101 £101 £1 £121 £122 £1 £1 £0
Respiritory Medicine £61 £61 - £73 £73 - - -

Total Community Services - ICO £24,178 £23,982 -£196 £29,013 £28,667 -£346 -£346 -£0

2019/20 Monitoring

Notes on this Appendix:

This appendix shows all of the adult community health services spend within the ICO contract, broken 
down by service.  Community services are forecasting to underspend by £0.3m in 2019/20, the main 
areas of note relate to under spends in Anticoagulation (£0.1m), District Nursing (£0.1m) and 
Physiotherapy Hip & Knee (£0.1m).

• Anticoagulation activity has reduced from last year again and this is a result of patients’ 
medication being switched.  This new medication requires fewer clinic attendances for on-
going patient monitoring.  This is offset though by an increased costs in the prescribing budget 
(which is shown in the Primary Care Commissioning Committee Report)  

Page 70



Page 11 of 13

Appendix 4 – Non-ICO Services 2019/20

Description
YTD 

Budget
 YTD Actual

YTD 
Variance

Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
ACC

Movement 
in Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Drug & Alcohol Contracts £3,092 £3,092 - £3,711 £3,696 -£15 -£15 -
Sexual Health Contracts £2,078 £2,078 - £2,494 £2,444 -£50 -£50 -
Health Improvement Service £982 £982 - £1,178 £1,178 - - -
Healthy Living Centres £865 £865 - £1,038 £1,038 - - -
Other - Public Health £21 £21 - £25 £25 - - -

Total Public Health Contracts (Non-ICO) £7,038 £7,038 - £8,445 £8,380 -£65 -£65 - 

Mental Health Service - NHS £29,346 £29,345 -£1 £35,215 £35,214 -£2 -£2 -£0
Six Degrees £1,253 £1,253 - £1,504 £1,504 - - -
St Ann's £974 £974 - £1,168 £1,168 - - -
Pendlebury House-Turning Point £721 £721 - £866 £866 - - -
Community Services - NHS £680 £809 £129 £816 £971 £155 £32 £123
Prestwich Specialist Services £581 £581 - £697 £697 - - -
Specialist Weight  Management £544 £501 -£43 £653 £561 -£92 -£92 -
Age UK £452 £452 - £542 £542 - - -
Community Assets £417 £417 - £500 £500 - - -
START £376 £376 - £451 £451 - - -
Carers' £315 £315 - £378 £378 - - -
Citizens Advice Bureau £240 £240 - £289 £289 - - -
Care Act £223 £223 - £268 £270 £2 £2 -
Broomwell Healthwatch £162 £170 £8 £194 £201 £7 £11 -£4
Stroke Association £119 £119 - £143 £143 - - -
Other £270 £243 -£26 £323 £291 -£33 -£28 -£5

Total Block Contracts (Non-ICO) £36,673 £36,740 £67 £44,008 £44,045 £37 -£77 £114

Acute Services - NHS £18,037 £17,453 -£584 £21,644 £20,944 -£701 -£701 -
Acute Services - Private £1,959 £2,713 £754 £2,351 £3,307 £957 £969 -£13
Continuing Care £3,507 £3,415 -£91 £4,208 £4,018 -£190 -£38 -£152
Mental Health ISRs £3,185 £2,780 -£405 £3,822 £3,390 -£432 -£369 -£64
DFG Capital Grant £2,571 £2,571 - £3,085 £3,085 - - -
Non Contracted Activity £2,188 £2,468 £279 £2,626 £2,955 £330 £286 £43
Funded Nursing Care £2,056 £2,051 -£5 £2,467 £2,446 -£20 -£14 -£7
Community Equipment Services £1,324 £1,324 - £1,588 £1,588 - -£100 £100
Any Qualified Provider (AQP) £478 £509 £32 £573 £638 £65 £76 -£12
Priory Beds £313 £311 -£3 £376 £373 -£3 £31 -£34
Mental Health Services - Specialist Services £263 £360 £97 £315 £423 £108 £108 £0
Practice Services Ltd £139 £121 -£18 £167 £146 -£21 -£16 -£5
Mental Health Assessments £69 £95 £25 £83 £113 £29 £27 £3
Patient Transport £27 £30 £3 £33 £38 £5 £5 -
Care Homes Refurbishment - - - - -£126 -£126 - -£126

Total Activity Contracts (Non-ICO) £36,115 £36,200 £85 £43,339 £43,338 -£0 £266 -£266

Total - Non-ICO £79,827 £79,978 £151 £95,792 £95,764 -£28 £124 -£152

2019/20 Monitoring

Notes on this Appendix:
This appendix shows all of those commissioned services that are not part of the SRFT ICO contract.  
There are new contracts within this relating to the expansion of the integrated fund for 2019/20.  Most 
of these contracts are on a block with only a small number being activity based.  

These services are forecasting a slight underspend with the position improving by £0.1m from the last 
report to the committee.  There has been a reduction in the number of placements for CHC and Mental 
Health but this has been offset by an increase in community services.

Page 71



Page 12 of 13

Appendix 5 – Aligned Services 2019/20

Description
YTD 

Budget
 YTD Actual

YTD 
Variance

Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
ACC

Movement 
in Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Acute Services - NHS £55,834 £57,557 £1,723 £67,001 £69,068 £2,067 £2,067 -
Acute Services - Private £8,490 £8,491 £0 £10,188 £10,185 -£3 -£3 £0
Ambulance Services £8,557 £8,557 - £10,268 £10,286 £18 £18 -
NHS 111 Service £627 £624 -£3 £752 £749 -£3 -£3 -£0
Termination Of Pregnancies £523 £565 £42 £628 £688 £61 £61 -

Total Activity Contracts (Aligned) £74,031 £75,794 £1,763 £88,837 £90,977 £2,140 £2,140 -£0

Total - Non-ICO £74,031 £75,794 £1,763 £88,837 £90,977 £2,140 £2,140 -£0

2019/20 Monitoring

Notes on this Appendix:

This appendix shows all the commissioned services that are within the Aligned element of the adult’s 
Integrated Fund.  These are services that cannot be legally included in a Section 75 Agreement 
(pooled budget) but these are included in Salford’s Integrated Commissioning Partnership Agreement.  
Predominantly these relate to surgical hospital activity and emergency ambulance services. Any over 
or underspend in these areas are included within the financial risk share of the Integrated Fund.

These services are currently forecast to overspend by £2.1m by year end.  This is in line with the 
last report to the committee in February 2020.

Page 72



Page 13 of 13

Appendix 6 – Committed Developments 2019/20

Description
YTD 

Budget
 YTD 

Actual
YTD 

Variance
Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
ACC

Movement in 
Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Contingency - ASC - - - £783 - -£783 -£783 -
Contingency - Living Wage Reserve - - - - - - - -
Contingency - General - - - £1,447 - -£1,447 -£1,447 -
Contingency - LD Additional Funding - - - £150 - -£150 -£150 -
Contingency - BCF Additional Funding - - - £750 - -£750 -£750 -
Contingency - GM NR Complex Discharge Service - - - £33 £33 - - -
Shared Care Records - - - £150 - -£150 -£150 -
Unidentified Savings Target - - - - - - - -

Total Committed Developments - - - £3,313 £33 -£3,280 -£3,280 - 

2019/20 Monitoring

Notes on this Appendix:

This appendix shows funding (budget) that has not yet been transferred into contracts.  This funding 
has not been transferred across to providers yet as these budgets are based on estimated financial 
values and will only transfer into contracts when the actual financial values have been agreed.

 “Contingency ASC” relates to the improved Better Care Fund (iBCF).  All funding relating to iBCF has 
been transferred into the ICO contract with the exception of £0.8m which was held back to offset in 
year financial pressures for Adults’ integrated Fund.

This year the Integrated Fund has a non–recurrent general contingency of £1.4m and this has been 
utilised to offset the over performance of the Adults’ integrated Fund.  This funding was the additional 
ASC grant which was kept aside to offset the overspend on ASC.

Additional funding has been given to the CCG in year in relation to Better Care Fund (BCF) and 
funding for specialist LD placements that have been repatriated from NHS England (NHSE). These 
have been released to offset the ASC pressure.

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Adults Commissioning Committee

Part 1

Agenda item number: 7

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information  

11th March 2020 

Report of: Dr Tom Regan – Clinical Director of Commissioning

Hilary Rothwell – Senior Service Improvement Manager

Date of paper: 25th February 2020

Subject: Integrated Community Based Care Strategy Group Update 

In case of query please contact: Hilary Rothwell

Hilary.rothwell@nhs.net

0161 212 4232

Strategic priorities 

Priority Selection

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research: X

Integrated Community Care Services (Adult 
Services):

X

Children’s and Maternity Services: 

Primary Care: 

Enabling Transformation: 

Page 75

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Hilary.rothwell@nhs.net


Purpose of paper: 

The purpose of this paper is to provide Commissioning Committee with 
an update on the work programme (s) of the Integrated Community 
Based Care Commissioning Group (ICBCCG). This paper covers the 
period August 2019 to January 2020.

Adults Commissioning Committee is asked to note the content of this 
report and comment as appropriate.

Further explanatory information required

Question Answer

How will this benefit the health 
and wellbeing of Salford 
residents or the Clinical 
Commissioning Group?

N/A

What risks may arise as a result 
of this paper? How can they be 
mitigated?

N/A – any risks pertaining to the individual 
services/projects that are reported in this 
paper, will be managed within the usual risk 
management processes.

What equality-related risks may 
arise as a result of this paper?  
How will these be mitigated?

N/A – any equality related risks pertaining 
to the individual services/projects that are 
reported in this paper, will be managed 
within the usual project/contract 
management processes.

Does this paper help address any 
existing high risks facing the 
organisation? If so what are they 
and how does this paper reduce 
them?

N/A

Please describe any possible 
conflicts of interest associated 
with this paper.

There are a number of services/projects 
which are applicable to primary care 
general practice in Salford, however any 
conflicts identified will be addressed and 
noted via the usual declaration process at 
the start of Adults Commissioning 

Page 76



Question Answer
Committee.

Please identify any current 
services or roles that may be 
affected by issues within this 
paper.

N/A

Footnote:

Members of Adults Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly. Once papers 
are distributed no amendments are possible.

Page 77



  

Document development

Process Yes No Not 
applicable

Comments and date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 
actual report)

Outcome

Public engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, 
event, consultation)



Clinical engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, 
event, consultation)



Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social 
Value and the impacts on the residents of 
Salford socially, economically and 
environmentally (including climate 
change)?

P
age 78



  

Process Yes No Not 
applicable

Comments and date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 
actual report)

Outcome

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks 
and how these will be managed) 

Legal advice sought 

Presented to any informal groups or 
committees (including partnership groups) 
for engagement or other formal 
governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

 Presented to Adults 
Commissioning Committee on 
Wednesday 11th March.

P
age 79



  

Title Integrated Community Based Care 
Commissioning Group Update Report

1. Executive summary
This paper provides an update on the delivery of the Integrated Community Based Care 
Strategic work programme for the months August 2019 to January 2020.
The paper offers a brief summary and overview of the particular service updates/reviews 
and proposals considered by the Integrated Community Based Care Commissioning Group 
for the period specified.
Much more comprehensive papers were received by the group and can be made available 
on request.
Should members require more detailed information please request a copy of the full paper 
from hilary.rothwell@nhs.net. 

The Adults Commissioning Committee is asked to note the contents of the update provided.

2. Service Updates
2.1 SWEAP

2.1.1 The Salford Wide Extended Access Pilot (SWEAP) has been running since 2017/18. 
The aim of the pilot is to test a model for extended access primary care 
appointments. The service is run by Salford Primary Care Together and offers 
evening and weekend appointments to Salford patients. There are currently 5 hubs 
delivering these appointments; one in each neighbourhood. NHS Salford CCG 
commissioned the National Institute for Health Research Collaboration for 
Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care (CLAHRC) Greater Manchester to 
evaluate the scheme. This evaluation was received at the end of September and was 
taken to the November meeting for discussion. The Head of Service Improvement for 
Integrated Community Services will take the comments from the meeting to assist in 
the formation of potential future models for extended access provision.

Page 80

mailto:hilary.rothwell@nhs.net


  

2.2 MSK Case for Change

2.2.1 In December 2018, Integrated Community Based Care Commissioning Group 
(ICBCCG) received a case for change which, in line with the Musculoskeletal (MSK) 
services framework (2016), proposed the development of a single point of referral for 
all MSK referrals to be triaged to appropriate services.   

2.2.2 In October a draft of the business case for the MSK Single Point of Referral model 
was taken to ICBC for discussion. The group asked a number of questions and it 
was agreed that Dr V. Selvaraasan would become the clinical lead for this work and 
a meeting would be convened between Dr Selvaraasan, the CCG’s Head of Service 
Improvement for Integrated Community Services and members of the MSK team. 
This meeting was held shortly after the ICBCCG meeting and the issues raised were 
resolved. Once finalised the business case will be presented to the Service and 
Finance Group.

2.3 Multi-Disciplinary Groups (MDG)

2.3.1 The MDG Evaluation report was presented to the August ICBCCG meeting noting 
that since April 2019, MDGs have been embedding the changes they have made in 
the previous 12 months as well as focusing on the needs of carers.

2.3.2 The 7 MDGs have been producing quarterly reports as part of the Salford Standard 
to demonstrate the above and almost all GP Practices have contributed to the 
reports.

2.3.3 A CCG-led Working Group continues to meet with input into the evaluation of the 
Enhanced Care Team. The on-going development of a Salford-wide approach to 
proactive care is being reflected in the revised Salford Standard for 2020/21.

2.4 Community Heart Failure Service  

2.4.1 A business case was presented to ICBCCG on the 18th February 2020 to ensure the 
service is fit for purpose and resilient against future demand. After discussion 
ICBCCG agreed to:
-Increase the Consultant input into the team to enable a weekly and monthly MDT
-Specific Heart Failure Advice and Guidance to be included within e-RS

Page 81



  

-Agreement of new activity and performance data which will be monitored for a 
minimum of 6 months and then evaluated
- An informed commissioning decision should then be made on the number and skill 
mix of Community Heart Failure Nurses or equivalent (i.e. pharmacist) required to 
sustain the service; increase the number of community clinics and provide for 
contingency.

2.5 Community Anti-coagulation Services

2.5.1 In August, ICBCCG considered the New Model for Community Anti-Coagulation 
Services and the Evaluation and Analysis of the INR Self-Testing Pilot. The findings 
from a pilot of patients who were on Warfarin undertaking self-testing was outlined 
for the group. Discussions were ongoing with Salford Royal to agree the baseline 
activity levels and a new contract for the next year that will allow patients the choice 
to self-test. The new Year of Care tariff includes the cost of the self-testing machine.

2.5.2 Discussion highlighted a number of issues which it was agreed would be included in 
the new service specification and KPIs. 

2.5.3. Since the August meeting monitoring has shown that:
- the number of patients under the care of the Anti-coagulation Team continues to 
decrease year on year
- the use of the newer anti-coagulation medications, DOACS, continues to increase 
at the same time as Warfarin use continues to decrease. DOACS do not require 
input from the Anti-coagulation team.
- 117 of the 126 patients are still using NICE recommended self-testing devices that 
were supplied from July 2018 onwards. Survey evidence suggests that they are 
overwhelmingly satisfied with the machines and the positive impact on their daily 
lives.
-the final recommendations are to be presented to ICBCCG in March 2020.

2.6 Rapid Access Chest Pain Clinic (RACPC)

2.6.1 ICBCCG received an update about RACPC at the September meeting in respect of 
the ongoing monitoring of the performance of this service. The latest performance 
was reported at the February meeting.

Page 82



  

2.6.2 Clinic waiting times continue to remain well over the 2 week target (50 days in 
December 2019). The performance data is being challenged by SRFT and there is to 
be a joint CCG and SRFT meeting to discuss this data.

2.6.3 The source of referrals into RACPC remains static with around 75% of referrals 
coming from GPs. The remaining 25% of referrals are from A&E and consultants. 
The GM Cardiac Network is currently piloting new revised criteria for referral to a 
RACPC service within Bury CCG and the outcomes of this pilot will be considered as 
part of the ongoing work to improve the performance of this service.

2.7 Community Cardiology Clinics and Primary Care Diagnostic Unit (PCDU)

2.7.1 An update was presented to the October meeting advising that the CCG-led working 
group continues to meet monthly with SRFT Cardiology and Respiratory, Ordsall and 
Claremont Neighbourhood and Salford Primary Care Together.

2.7.2 The focus of the project remains within the Ordsall and Claremont Neighbourhood 
although Walkden and Little Hulton and Broughton Neighbourhoods have expressed 
interest.

2.7.3 Funding from the NHSE 100 Day Challenge and the Innovation Fund has enable the 
two projects to merge and continue to the 31st March 2020. Work is taking place with 
the CCG Contracts and Finance Team to seek a financially viable future model.

3. Innovation Fund
3.1 An update regarding the Innovation Fund was presented to ICBCCG in October 

2019. This general update provided ICBCCG with an overview of projects that fall 
within the remit of the group and for which the group may be required to make future 
commissioning decisions / recommendations.

3.2 For all Innovation Fund projects within the remit of ICBCCG the group will:

 review the 6-month progress reports and feedback to Innovation and Research 
Oversight Group (IROG)

 provide a view on any project variation requests, whether financial, scope or 
timescale

 review the final evaluation reports and feedback to IROG
 provide clinical oversight of business cases for projects seeking to be sustained 

longer term and make recommendations to Service and Finance Group.

Page 83



  

3.3 LC20-18 Hear to Care

3.3.1 The Hear to Care project aims to work with Salford Care Homes to improve 
knowledge and raise awareness of hearing loss sustaining the work undertaken 
through the development of Hearing Loss Champions in each home.  The 12-month 
evaluation report was presented to ICBCCG at the January meeting together with an 
extension request. The project evidenced improvement in communication and 
management of hearing aids and hearing difficulties for care home residents and a 
12-month extension was supported to enable the project to be delivered in more care 
homes.

3.4 16-Kafoodle

3.4.1 This project aims to help care homes to provide meals that are as nutritious as they can be 
based on complex needs associated with the elderly so that residents can be as healthy as 
they can be via the food that they eat. The final evaluation report was presented to the 
October meeting. The group noted lessons have been learned but that the feedback 
appeared to show that Kafoodle was not the solution to improve nutrition in care 
homes.  The views of the group were fed back to IROG.

3.5 WC05-Decide Dermatology

3.5.1 This project is delivering an educational package to upskill the primary care 
workforce in the management of skin lesions. The 6-month progress report was 
represented to the November ICBCCG meeting. The project was on track and 
progressing well. The final evaluation report is due in May 2020.

3.6 LC06-18 Dysphagia

3.6.1 This project is being delivered by Salford Royal Community Speech and Language 
Team. The aim is work with Salford Care Homes to train up existing staff as 
Dysphagia Champions. The 6-month progress report was presented to the January 
ICBCCG meeting together with an extension request to sustain the project for a 
further 12 months and enable delivery to more care homes.  The project had 
highlighted concerning issues regarding inappropriate diet / consistency of food and 
inappropriate thickening of liquids. 

Page 84



  

3.6.2. The group agreed there was insufficient evidence of the difference the project was 
making to care homes and were unable to support the extension application. In 
addition ICBCCG wished to feed back to IROG and the project team that assurance 
is required that the quality issues identified are being addressed. 

3.6.3 Since the January meeting of ICBCCG it has been agreed that this project will in 
future report to Safer Salford and a DATIX has been submitted. 

3.7 Empower You

3.7.1 Empower You was an Innovation Project that provided short-term intensive 
programmes with an exercise professional to support disabled people to overcome 
barriers and to lead more active lifestyles.

3.7.2. The project received national recognition and a business case for sustaining it was 
presented to ICBCCG in May 2018. Unfortunately the group was not able to support 
the business case due to the small number of disabled people who would benefit and 
the high cost per beneficiary. The group felt that if there was a modified model that 
could be developed and tested to support a larger cohort of disabled people to 
increase activity in mainstream services at a lower cost per beneficiary then this 
could prove to be an investable proposition.

3.7.3 Since this decision, Empower You has tested in both Salford and Trafford, including 
through a grant from the Salford CVS Impact Fund, the feasibility of a group-based 
approach to support sustainable physical activity of disabled people and those 
around them. 

3.7.4 Empower You presented the outcomes of their revised model to ICBCCG in 
November 2019. They evidenced that they had addressed previous concerns raised 
by the group with the new group based model able to benefit a larger number of 
disabled people at a lower cost per beneficiary.

3.7.5 ICBCCG supported the commissioning of Empower You for the population of Salford 
and this is now to be considered by Service and Finance Group in early March 2020.

3.8 160- Oviva

3.8.1 Oviva is an on-line and telephone type 2 diabetes training system, as an alternative 
to face to face training.  The final evaluation report highlighted that 246 Salford 
residents with type 2 diabetes were offered a place on Salford Royal’s structured 
education courses during 2018/19 with 146 (59%) attending the course. During this 

Page 85



  

period Oviva accepted a further 411 referrals for online or telephone training and at 
the time of the evaluation report, 280 patients (68%) had enrolled.

3.8.2 The evaluation of the project was completed by Manchester University and highlights 
include:
-two thirds of Salford GP Practices made at least one referral
- 62% of those who enrolled were male
- 73% were of working age
- 93% of patients were likely or very likely to recommend the programme
- 2.5% of patients had accessed the service using languages other than English.

3.8.3. At the time of the meeting the Greater Manchester Clinical Network was about to 
commence roll out of the GM Diabetes Test Bed Project, Diabetes MyWay. Oviva is 
to be one of the services offered to patients across GM as part of this project 
although the number of places available to Salford patients would be far lower than 
taken up as part of the Innovation Project. 

3.8.4 ICBCCG were satisfied with Oviva’s evaluation and recommended maintaining the 
service until 31st March to enable access for a further 200 patients from Salford. It is 
expected that the evaluation of Diabetes MyWay, led by the GM Diabetes Network 
will be completed by the 31st March and this evaluation can be used to support a 
local decision about longer term commissioning of Oviva or similar digital service(s).

3.8.5 In the meantime, a CCG-led Working Group has been set up that includes SRFT’s 
Diabetes Team and Oviva to develop joint pathways and promote a collaborative 
approach to improving patient outcomes. 

4. Homeless Practice Redesign
4.1 A paper setting out the proposed new model to support the re-design of the Salford 

Homeless Practice was presented to the September ICBCCG meeting. The paper 
highlighted that the re-design aimed to ensure the delivery of the service met the 
needs of the homeless population of Salford.

4.2 The report set out best practice and what is currently being delivered noting that the 
requirements set out in the current service specification are not currently met by the 
service and the service specification is out of date. ICBCCG was asked to make a 
decision on the introduction of a new service model and consider the 
recommendations set out in the paper.

Page 86



  

4.3 The findings of the evidence based best practice from the Manchester and Bolton 
homeless service models were used to help the CCG develop the new service model 
for Salford being proposed.

4.4 ICBCCG were asked to support the recommendations of the report which were:
- for the CCG to adopt the principles of the new model for the delivery of Salford’s 
Homeless Practice
-For the CCG to set up a formal task and finish group with the current provider 
(Salford Primary Care Together) to implement the new service model
- for the CCG to produce some new KPIs and an updated service specification  in 
line with the new service model.

4.5 ICBC noted the contents of the report and supported the recommendations.

5. Integrated Care Transformation Programme Report
5.1 The Transformation Programme reported to the September ICBCCG meeting. The 

report noted that the Urgent Care Team, Enhanced Care Team, Falls and the 
Housing Officer were funded to the end of December and were subject to potential 
business cases and this is to be considered by the Advisory Board.

5.2 The Centre of Contact, Wellbeing Matters, Enhanced Carers Service and 
Neighbourhood Development were being deferred at present. The Back Pain, Advice 
and Guidance and Urgent Treatment Centre workstreams had all been completed 
and no business cases were being contemplated. 

5.3 ICBCCG was advised this would be the last Transformation update report that would 
be provided to the group as the focus of the programme transitions to what services 
will look like going forward.

6. Greater Manchester Any Qualified Provider (AQP) report
6.1 There are 24 AQPs in Greater Manchester and the contract is coming to an end. 

This was discussed by the Greater Manchester Directors of Commissioning and all 
CCGs were tasked with deciding what they want going forward.

6.2 The report provided ICBCCG with an update on the current service provision, activity 
and finance of the Greater Manchester AQP contracts to help support a decision on 
the future commissioning intentions of Salford CCG. 

Page 87



  

6.3 Salford CCG are currently part of Greater Manchester collaborative arrangements for 
Adult Hearing and Non Obstetric Ultrasound. Salford is the lead commissioner for 
Adult Hearing delivered by Salford Royal Foundation Trust and Non Obstetric 
Ultrasound delivered by Bestcare Diagnostics.

6.4 The report highlighted issues with existing AQP services with incomplete reporting 
data and duplication of diagnostics. 

6.5 ICBCCG was presented with a number of options and asked to support the 
recommended option:
Re-procure through non AQP competitive tender as GM Collaboration for the 2 
current services commissioned by Salford CCG which were: Adult Hearing and Non 
Obstetric Ultrasound. Through this option CCG’s can reduce the number of providers 
by selecting the best providers based on a tender process, fewer providers would 
make quality and performance monitoring more manageable.

6.6 ICBCCG was also asked to consider the proposal to extend the re-procurement  to 
include other diagnostics for example reconsidering MRI (Head and Neck), 
Colonoscopy, Gastroscopy,  and Flexi-Sigmoidoscopy. 

6.7 The group agreed the recommendation to re-procure through non-AQP route as part 
of GM collaboration for the 2 current services commissioned by Salford CCG.

6.8 There was support for gastroscopy however concerns were raised about undertaking  
MRI, colonoscopy and flexi-sigmoidoscopy in a primary care setting.  Further 
investigation post-meeting noted that endoscopy was now available via eRS making 
it easier for GPs to refer.

7. Salford Standard
7.1 ICBCCG received an update on the Salford Standard Review process and the final 

proposals for the sign up and specification performance framework for 2020/21.
7.2 The recommendations were outlined and the governance process described followed 

by discussion by the group of the proposals set out in the paper. Discussion included 
duplication, medication reviews, practice engagement with frailty and GP access, in 
particular long waiting times for a GP appointment impacting on two week wait 
referrals.

7.3 ICBCCG noted the content of the report. The next step was for Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee to agree the contract outline for 2020/21 including 
finance model, core standard requirements and KPIs.  

Page 88



  

8. Primary Care Workforce Strategy Update
8.1 The refreshed Primary Care Workforce Strategy was endorsed by the Primary Care 

Commissioning Committee in May 2019. The paper presented to ICBCCG provided 
an update on each of the actions from the year 1 delivery plan with greater depth 
being provided on primary care workforce data.

8.2 There was discussion about the development of a paper for GM to pilot a nurse 
associate role, HCA and registered nurse apprenticeships and the need to ensure 
these nurses are retained once they are trained. 

8.3 Concerns were raised about the impact on primary care capacity of staff leaving due 
to retirement and other reasons and then not being replaced. The need for a 
predictable attrition rate was noted. 

8.4 ICBCCG were advised that the SWorDMAP project will provide workforce 
intelligence and that there was a piece of work looking at sustainability of primary 
care. 

9. Recommendations
9.1 The Adults Commissioning Committee is asked to:

 Note the contents of this report

Name (Author): Hilary Rothwell

Job title: Senior Service Improvement Manager

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1

ADULT’S COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE
AGENDA ITEM NO 8

Item for Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

DATE OF MEETING 11th March 2020

Report of: Senior Service Improvement Manager

Date of Paper: 04/03/2020

Subject: Urgent and Emergency Care Delivery 
Board Update

In case of query 
Please contact:

Stephen Tilley
Senior Service Improvement Manager
0161 212 5659

Purpose of Paper:
This paper provides an update on work programmes relating to Urgent & Emergency 
Care.  

Commissioning Committee is asked to note the content of this report and comment as 
appropriate.

Page 91

Agenda Item 8



 

2

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

The paper is for information only. 

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

The paper is for information only.

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

The paper is for information only.

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH OR EXTREME 
RISKS FACING THE 
ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT ARE 
THEY AND HOW DOES THIS PAPER 
REDUCE THEM?

The paper is for information only.

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

The paper is for information only.

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

The paper is for information only.

Footnote:

Members of – Adults’ Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible.

Page 92



  

3

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)



Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)



Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how these 
will be managed) 

Legal Advice Sought 

Presented to the Adult’s Commissioning 
Committee

 To be presented March 2020

Presented to the XXX
Presented to theIXXX
Presented to any other groups or committees, 
including Partnership Groups
(Please specify in comments)



Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 93



4

Urgent and Emergency Care Delivery Board Update

1. Executive Summary

This paper provides an update on work programmes relating to Urgent & Emergency Care 
as well as outlining performance against relevant NHS Constitutional Standards.

2. Emergency Department

2.1 Performance against the 4 hour 95% standard for Accident and Emergency (A&E) at 
Salford Royal Foundation Trust (SRFT) was below target in 2019/20 with an average 
84.31% April to January 19/20 which is slightly better than the same period in 18/19 
when the average was 84.74%. We also seem too performed better in the winter 
months compared to the previous year as we saw performance dropping as low as 
71%, where this winter we have maintained an 80%+ average.  

2.2 SRFT saw a 118,000 thousand patients this year to date 19/20 compared to 89,000 
for the same period 18/19.

2.3 SRFT continues to progress the urgent care improvement programme. The localities 
priorities for improving urgent care performance in 2019/20 and beyond can be 
grouped into the following areas: Leadership and culture, pre-hospital care, 
management of the ‘front door’ and management of the ‘back door’.

2.4 With pressure being felt right across GM A&E performance for Salford CCG patients 
attending any A&E is has also remained below the 95% standard, and is on average 
83.82% April to January 2019/20.

2.5 The A&E deflection rate has not been reported on this year and negotiations with 
SRFT continue to re-establish this information feed. 

2.6 In December 2018 the Trust began piloting an Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) model 
located within the emergency department. The UTC superseded the GP Streaming 
model which had been in place from September 2017. 

2.7 Various operating models for the UTC were trialled but none provided an appropriate 
return on investment from a financial or efficiency standpoint. A Salford wide urgent 
care review was initiated in the Summer 19 to build on the information gathered. .

Page 94



5

2.8 The Urgent Care Review has established 4 task and finish groups to look at the 
development of 4 specific areas of urgent care. These are:

 Same Day Emergency Care / Urgent Treatment Centre
 Community 
 Primary Care 
 Mental health

 
In addition senior directors representing the Salford locality meet every two weeks as 
a strategic group to review progress, address any issues/problems and ensure that 
strategically we are on target. An agreed model is expected to be developed this year 
with operational inception expected in September 20.   

3. NHS 111

3.1 Throughout the year to date we have performed well against Clinical interventions 
and call abandonment rates have detreated since September 19 but there are signs 
of improvement since January 20..

3.2 The CCG continues to monitor and feedback comments relating to quality to NHS 
Blackpool CCG who are the lead commissioner for the service.

 
3.3 Each NHS 111 service has to report on the following four Key Performance 

Indicators (KPIs):

• Calls answered (Target 95% in 60 seconds)
• Calls abandoned (Target <5%)
• Warm transfer (Target 75%)
• Clinical Intervention (Target 30%)
(Calls Back in 10 minutes has not been reported on by NWAS since November 19%)

3.4 Performance for 19/20 year to date. 

Actual 19/20

KPI Description Target Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan

Calls abandoned <5% 2.49 2.6 3.8 7.1 5.3 7.4 9.7 15.8 14.4 7.5

Calls answered in 60 seconds 95% 87.3 87.9 85 78.5 77.33 73.3 70.6 64.3 65.8 73.9

Calls warm transferred 75% 33.08 38.3 39.4 37.5 37.22 37.2 34.7 34.3 21.5 37.09

Call backs within 10 minutes 75% 57 49.22 35.5 29.3 29.4 25.7 26.6 25

Clinical Intervention 50% 50.11 49.32 49 51.4 51.1 53.2 51.5 51.6 51.6 52.5

Page 95



6

4. Emergency Ambulance Service

4.1 NWAS follow the national Ambulance Response Programme (ARP). The categories 
of ambulance call are as follows:

4.2 Category 1 - Time critical and life threatening events requiring immediate 
intervention, such as cardiac arrest or respiratory arrest; airway obstructions and 
ineffective breathing. NWAS aims to respond to these calls within an average time of 
7 minutes and at least 9 out of 10 times (90th percentile) within 15 minutes. 

4.3 Category 2 - Potentially serious conditions that may require rapid assessment, urgent 
on-scene clinical intervention/treatment and / or urgent transport. These conditions 
include probable heart attacks, strokes, and major burns. NWAS aims to respond to 
these calls within an average time of 18 minutes and at least 9 out of 10 times within 
40 minutes. 

4.4 Category 3 - Urgent problem (not immediately life-threatening) that needs treatment 
to relieve suffering (e.g. pain control) and transport or assessment and management 
at scene with referral where needed within a clinically appropriate timeframe. These 
conditions include burns (not major); non-emergency late pregnancy/childbirth 
problems; uncomplicated diabetic hyper/hypoglycaemia; not immediately at risk drug 
overdoses; non-emergency injuries; abdominal pain. Mortality rates are very low or 
zero; there is evidence to support alternative pathways of care. NWAS aims to 
respond to these calls at least 9 out of 10 times within 120 minutes.

4.5 Category 4 - Problems that are not urgent but need assessment (face to face or 
telephone) and possibly transport within a clinically appropriate timeframe. NWAS 
aims to respond to these calls at least 9 out of 10 times within 180 minutes.

4.6 ARP performance for 2019 was as follows:

Description April May June July  August September 
C1 Best Response Average   6.54 6.34 6.45 6.53 7.24 6.41
C1 90th Percentile 11.22 10.33 11.15 10.43 11.26 10.13
C2 Best Response Average 23.42 20.45 25.18 26.05 25.58 27
C2 90th Percentile 50.50 42.12 54.41 55.04 54.49 5838
C3 90th Percentile 2.36.46 2,52.35 3.06.16 3.30.14 4.10.27 4.22.50
C3 90th Percentile 2.39.30 3.40.41 2.47.30 4.20.52 4.01.08 4.48.55
Description October November  December  January Total 
C1 Best Response Average 6.59 6.56 7.05 6.53 6.55
C1 90th Percentile 11.22 10.49 11.17 11.35 11.07
C2 Best Response Average 29.56 39.22 37.15 30.02 28.41
C2 90th Percentile 1.01.54 1.24.08 1.20.49 1.05.44 1.02.27
C3 90th Percentile 5.05.31 6.32.26 7.31.29 5.48.48 4.30.12
C3 90th Percentile 3.53.39 4.50.36 6.07.29 4.02.51 3.57.01

Page 96



7

4.7 The Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership continues to work 
closely with NWAS to improve performance against the ARP targets.

4.8 The average handover time in Salford for 2019/20 to date is 30.26 which is close to 
the 30 minute target and is an improvement on last year’s average of 33.07 minutes. 
The CCG continues to work closely with the Trust and NWAS to improve handover 
time. 

5. Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC)

5.1 The CCG routinely measures the reduction in bed days associated with delayed 
transfers of care. The data is as follows:

Better Care Fund (BCF): DTOC (delayed days) from hospital per 100,000 population
  Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Numerator 1085 986 1726 4259
Denominator 193636 193636 193636 195600

Value 560.3 509.2 891.4 2177.4
2016-17

Plan 779.3 650.2 588.2 692.2
Numerator 1864 1745 1334 1396

Denominator 195600 195600 195600 197398
Value 953.0 892.1 682.0 707.2

2017-18

Plan 938.7 1240.8 1060.3 1027.9
Numerator 760 919 793 1475

Denominator 197398 197398 197398 199046
Value 385.0 465.6 401.7 741.0

2018-19

Plan 922.0 885.5 838.9 760.1
Numerator 2514 2640

Denominator 199046 199046
Value 1263.0 1326.3

2019-20

Plan Quarterly plan figures not set as there is a GM target of 210.5
Definition
Numerator: The total number of delayed days (for patients aged 18 and over) for all months of 
baseline/payment period*
Denominator: ONS mid-year population estimate (mid-year projection for 18+ population)
*Note: this is different to ASCOF Delayed Transfer of Care publication which uses ‘patient snapshot’ 
collected for one day each month.

5.2 The data shows that since Q2 2017/18 each quarter has exceeded the target set.

5.3 The Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership are pleased with the 
progress made on DTOCs within GM Trusts and have relaxed reporting on DTOCs.

Page 97



8

5.4 This year there has been a change in the way DTOCs are reported. From 1st April 
2019 Intermediate Care DTOCs are included in the figures reported. This has led to 
an increase in the number of DTOCs but this picture should be replicated at all 
Trusts.

6. Patient Transport Services (PTS)

6.1 NWAS are the current provider of PTS for Greater Manchester. The CCG has not 
been made aware of any patient complaints to date. However, SRFT is increasingly 
raising issues with PTS and stating that patient discharges are being significantly 
delayed due to a lack of PTS vehicles. This issue has been raised with the Greater 
Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership. Over the winter period SRFT 
utilised patient transport services from St John’s Ambulance on an ad hoc basis.

6.2 Across GM the service was performing in line with activity estimates for the period 
1st July 2019 to January 20. However, weekday activity was 34% above baseline. 
Abortive calls continue to be a challenge and the Trust and NWAS are working 
closely to eliminate them. 

6.3 PTS is being reviewed by the Greater Manchester Health and Social Care 
Partnership and workshops have been held to gather ideas for improvements.

7. CQUIN update
CQUIN Description Progress
CUR Clinical Utilisation Review (CUR) - 

Installation and Implementation; 
application and use leading to reduction 
in inappropriate hospital utilisation; 
reporting of results. CUR is a proven 
approach, supported by robust medical 
intelligence in the form of an 
internationally developed clinical 
evidence base built into clinical decision-
support software. CUR can help to 
prevent unnecessary hospital admissions 
and reduce length of stay for patients by 
determining the most suitable level of 
care according to clinical need.

The CQUIN does not need to be 
formally signed off by the CCG; it is 
signed off by NHS England. One of the 
requirements of the CQUIN however, is 
that the Trust must update the CCG on 
progress. This is done via the Urgent 
and Emergency Care Delivery Board. 
To date the Trust has met all 
milestones.

11a Same Day 
Emergency 
Care (SDEC) - 
Pulmonary 
Embolus

Achieving between 50 - 75% of patients 
with confirmed pulmonary embolus being 
managed in a same day setting where 
clinically appropriate.

Achieved Q1, Q2, Q3
Q1 - 100%*
Q2 - 98%
Q3 - 98%

11b SDEC - Achieving between 50 - 75% of patients Achieved Q1, Q2, Q3

Page 98



9

Tachycardia 
with Atrial 
Fibrillation

with confirmed atrial fibrillation being 
managed in a same day setting where 
clinically appropriate.

Q1 - 100%*
Q2 - 89%
Q3 - 100%

11c SDEC - 
Community 
Acquired 
Pneumonia

Achieving between 50 - 75% of patients 
with confirmed Community Acquired 
Pneumonia being managed in a same 
day setting where clinically appropriate.

Achieved Q1, Q2, Q3
Q1 - 100%*
Q2 - 90%
Q3 - 100%

7.1 As noted in the table above, SRFT have achieved each of CQUIN 11’s three Same 
Day Emergency Care elements to date. Acute providers across Greater Manchester 
and nationally have experienced difficulties with this CQUIN, with NHSE/NHSI 
revising the indicator specifications to try and address these. SRFT’s clinical and 
operational leads have made considerable effort to overcome these difficulties, with 
initial data reconciliation issues requiring the Trust’s and the CCG’s BI teams to work 
closely together. This approach has enabled the CCG to have confidence in SRFT’s 
evidence, with the trust continuing to progress the accuracy of their clinical coding 
and the roll out of ICD10 codes.

8. Recommendations

8.1 The Adult’s Commissioning Committee is asked to note the contents of this report. 

Stephen Tilley
Senior Service Improvement Manager

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 101

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Draft Minutes of the Meeting Held on 12 February 2020
	5 Adult Community Eating Disorder Service - Judd Skelton - 15 minutes
	05 - Adult Community ED - Business Case

	6 Finance Report - David Warhurst - 15 minutes
	7 Integrated Community Based Care Group Update - Harry Golby - 10 minutes
	8 Urgent & Emergency Care Update - Stephen Tilley - 10 minutes
	12 Improving Specialist Care Programme - Progress Update - Karen Proctor - 10 minutes

